COUR FÉDÉRALE Copy of Document Copie du document Filed Déposé Received / Reçu

Date DFC 19 2007
Registrar
Greffier
TWEEN:

FEDERAL COURT

No. T-2030-13
SERVICE OF A TRUE COPY
HEREOF ADMITTED

DEC 1 9 2014

WILLIAM F. PENTNEY Solicitor for A.G.C.

PLAINTIFFS

NEIL ALLARD TANYA BEEMISH DAVID HEBERT SHAWN DAVEY

AND:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA

DEFENDANTS

AFFIDAVIT OF ROBERT BOILEAU

- I, ROBERT BOILEAU, 10760 277th Street, Maple Ridge BC, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS, THAT:
- 1. My name is Robert Boileau and I make this affidavit of my own personal knowledge, information and belief. Where matters are stated to be on information and belief I so indicate and believe them to be true.
- 2. Now produced and marked as Exhibit "A" to this my Affidavit is my Rebuttal Expert Report.
- 3. Now produced and marked as Exhibit "B" to this my Affidavit is my signed Certificate Concerning Code of Conduct for Expert Witnesses.
- 4. I swear this Affidavit as an expert rebuttal witness on behalf of the Plaintiffs in this action.

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City of Abbotsford, in the Province of British Columbia, this Arthur day of December, 2014

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits in) and for the Province of British Columbia)

ROBERT BOILEAU



This is exhibit released to ju
the affidavit of Kobert Dorload
sworn before me at Abbotsford
i etta li
this 12 day of 12 C 20 14
John Grand
A commissioner for taking affidavits
for British Columbia

10760 277th Street, Maple Ridge BC, V2W 1M7

boileaudlectric@telus.net | 604-462-1688

December 19, 2014

Electrical Safety in Medical Marijuana Production Facilities

Purpose

As an independent expert, I have been asked to provide an opinion with respect to the safety of electrical installations in buildings used to grow marijuana under the current Marihuana Medical Access Regulations (MMAR) by individuals holding a Personal-Use Production License (PUPL) or Designated-Person Production License (DPPL). I have also been asked to provide an analysis of the expert report prepared by Len Garis dated October 8, 2014 with respect to the electrical safety issues identified therein.

Executive Summary

The Safety Standards Act (SSA) and associated regulations have been developed to ensure the safety of all electrical installations in British Columbia. The regulations require that all electrical work be performed by qualified individuals under permit and with the benefit of inspection by a Safety Officer.

With respect to marijuana grow operations, there have no doubt been problems associated with poor electrical installations in the past. As a paid on call firefighter, I attended structure fires that were determined to have been caused by such faulty installations. As an electrical contractor, I have repaired electrical services that have been altered by unqualified individuals for the purpose of installing grow equipment. These problems occurred at illicit (non-licensed) operations, or at operations where the electrical work was installed or altered by unqualified people without the benefit of inspection.

Prior to the MMAR licenses coming into effect, reputable electrical contractors would not install electrical works for marijuana grow operations as it was an illegal activity. This resulted in the installations being done by unqualified people without permit and without inspection. Once the MMAR licenses were issued however, contractors were able to perform the work in compliance with the Safety Standards Act.

Under the SSA, a permit is required for the installation of electrical works. This permit must name a qualified person (Field Safety Representative) who is responsible for the work and the work is subject to inspection by a Safety Officer. This ensures that the installation is done safely. In order to ensure that the installation remains safe, a Safety Officer can (and ought to in these cases) require that an annual operating permit be taken out for the installation. This operating

permit requires that the named Field Safety Representative be responsible for the ongoing safety of the installation and allows for annual re-inspection by a Safety Officer.

When the requirements of the Safety Standards Act are followed, an electrical installation at a marijuana grow operation is just as safe as any other electrical installation at any other type of facility.

Qualifications

- Over 25 years experience in the electrical trade in BC
- Certified Red Seal journeyman electrician
- Registered with the BC Safety Authority as a Field Safety Representative Class A, Unrestricted
- Ten years as a paid on call firefighter with the City of Maple Ridge, retired as Captain
- Pro-Board Certified Fire Officer I
- Bachelor of Applied Science degree from University of British Columbia
- Registered as Engineer in Training with the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia

Applicable Legislation

The standards with respect to electrical safety in British Columbia are enforced by the BC Safety Authority (provincially) and a number of Municipal Authorities in their specific jurisdictions through an administrative agreement with the Minister responsible (Minister of Energy and Mines and Minister Responsible for Housing). The Municipal Authorities that enforce the standards in their jurisdiction (City of Burnaby, City of Maple Ridge, City of Victoria, City of Vancouver, City of North Vancouver, District of North Vancouver, Municipality of West Vancouver, and City of Surrey) are bound to the same Safety Standards Act as the BC Safety Authority.

The Safety Standards Act (SSA) and by extension the regulations adopted under it applies to everyone who installs, alters, maintains or operates electrical equipment. The Canadian Electrical Code (current edition) is also adopted under the Safety Standards Act. The Safety Standards Act is attached as Appendix A, the Safety Standards General Regulation as Appendix B, and the Electrical Safety Regulation as Appendix C.

Part 1 of the Electrical Safety Regulation sets out the requirements of those individuals who may perform regulated electrical work and requires that the individual:

4 (1) Subject to subsection (2), an individual must not perform regulated work in respect of electrical equipment unless the individual

(a) holds an appropriate industry training credential in respect of electrical work,

- (b) has successfully completed training recognized by a provincial safety manager,
- (c) is employed by an organization that utilizes training programs that are approved by a provincial safety manager and the individual
 - (i) has successfully completed the relevant training, and
 - (ii) does not perform regulated work for any person other than the individual's employer who provided the training,
- (d) is a homeowner acting in accordance with section 17,
- (e) is a manufacturer's technical representative,
- (f) holds another certificate of qualification under the Gas Safety Regulation or the Power Engineers, Boiler, Pressure Vessel and Refrigeration Safety Regulation, or
- (g) is permitted to do so under section 5 of the Safety Standards General Regulation.
- (2) Any right referred to in subsection (1) to perform electrical work is limited by
 - (a) any exception under this regulation,
 - (b) any terms and conditions imposed under a permission issued under the Act, or
 - (c) by the scope of the individual's certificate of qualification or industry training credential.
- (3) For the purposes of section 5 of the Safety Standards General Regulation or section 12 of this regulation, only an individual referred to in subsection (1) (a), (b), (c) or (f) of this section is authorized to supervise a person to do electrical work.

Part 2 of the Safety Standards General Regulation (SSGR) requires that 'a person must obtain the appropriate permit from the regulatory authority before performing regulated work'. Permitted work is then subject to the benefit of inspection by a Safety Officer under Part 3 of the SSGR.

- 11 (1) When electrical work is performed on electrical equipment, a permit is required
 - (a) for each structure with a separate electrical supply, or
 - (b) for each portion of a structure with a separate electrical supply service.

(2) A permit is required for any electrical work that requires the attendance of a utility to connect or reconnect an electrical service.

Two different types of permits are identified in the Safety Standards General Regulation: installation permits and operating permits. The definition of installation and operating permits are provided in the Safety Standards General Regulation as follows:

Installation permits

- 17 (1) An installation permit is required to install or alter a regulated product.
 - (2) An installation permit may be issued to any of the following:
 - (a) a licensed contractor;
 - (b) a person who holds an operating permit;
 - (c) an owner of a regulated product;
 - (d) a homeowner who performs regulated work as permitted under the regulations.
 - (3) Unless exempted by the regulations, an application for an installation permit must contain the name, certificate of qualification number and class of certificate of qualification of the field safety representative.
 - (4) To issue an installation permit a safety officer may require a bond.

Operating permits

- 18 (1) A person must have an operating permit to do any of the following:
 - (a) operate a regulated product;
 - (b) maintain a regulated product.
 - (2) An operating permit may be issued to any of the following:
 - (a) an owner of a regulated product;
 - (b) the owner of a building or other premises where regulated work is to be performed.
 - (3) An operating permit may be issued for the use of one or more regulated products listed in section 2 (1) (b) of the Act.
 - (4) Unless specified in the regulations, an application for an operating permit is not required to contain the name, certificate of qualification number and class of certificate of qualification of the field safety representative.

(5) To issue an operating permit a safety officer may require a bond.

Responsibilities of operating permit holder

- 19 The holder of an operating permit must do all of the following:
 - (a) if required under the permit, maintain a log of work performed under the permit;
 - (b) in the case of a multi-year operating permit, pay any required installments of the permit fee;
 - (c) submit any required declaration confirming compliance with the Act;
 - (d) if a field safety representative is named in the permit, immediately notify the regulatory authority if the field safety representative ceases to be contracted or employed by the permit holder.

The Electrical Safety Regulation requires that notwithstanding SSGR 18(4), the name of the Field Safety Representative responsible for the installation under an operating permit must be provided.

Operating permit

14 If electrical maintenance is performed on a building or premises, the application for the operating permit must include the name, class and certificate of qualification number of the field safety representative who will perform or supervise the regulated work under the permit.

The requirements for electrical operating permits are further clarified by a BC Safety Authority Directive No. D-E3 0708017 which is attached as Appendix D. Of particular importance is Section A (4) which states that an operating permit 'shall be obtained if required by an Electrical Safety Officer'.

Section 19 of the Electrical Safety Regulation details the inspection requirements for electrical work, and Section 21 details the approval requirements for electrical equipment:

Inspection of electrical work

19 (1) If a person holds an electrical installation permit, the field safety representative named on the permit must request an inspection at least once in every 180 day period.

- (2) If no inspection request under subsection (1) has been submitted within a 180 day period, the holder of the permit must have the permit amended to allow for the extra time before performing any regulated work.
- (3) On the completion of each phase of electrical work under an installation permit, the field safety representative named on the permit must request an inspection.
- (4) A person must not do any of the following unless the regulated work has been inspected or the inspection has been waived:
 - (a) conceal any portion of the rough wiring;
 - (b) connect power to the electrical supply system;
 - (c) if the inspection is required for other than the last phase, work on the next phase of the electrical work.
- (5) If an inspection is required for regulated work, other than the regulated work in the last phase, a person must not do regulated work on the next phase of electrical work.
- (6) After receiving a request under subsection (1) or (3), the regulatory authority may require
 - (a) an inspection, or
 - (b) a declaration that the work performed under the permit complies with the Act and the regulations.

Certification or approval mark required for electrical equipment

- 21 (1) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), a person must not use electrical equipment in British Columbia, or offer for sale, sell, display or otherwise dispose of electrical equipment for use in British Columbia, unless the electrical equipment displays a label or mark as follows:
 - (a) a certification mark;
 - (b) a label or mark of a certification agency that is acceptable to the appropriate provincial safety manager to certify electrical equipment for a specific installation;
 - (c) an approval mark issued under section 10 of the Act;

- (d) in the case of used manufactured homes, used factory-built structures and used recreational vehicles, a label supplied by the appropriate provincial safety manager.
- (2) An approval mark under subsection (1) (c) signifies compliance with requirements in respect of fire and electrical shock hazards only.
- (3) Electrical equipment that does not require approval under the B.C. Electrical Code does not require a label or mark.
- (4) Electrical equipment that has not been approved under subsection (1) may
 - (a) be displayed for not more than 14 days if the regulatory authority gives written permission to do so, or
 - (b) be used by a utility in its capacity as a utility if a professional engineer has certified that the use of the equipment is safe.

The Safety Standards act gives Safety Officers the following powers:

Powers of safety officers

- 18 (1) For the purposes of this Act and in the course of performing their duties, safety officers may exercise any or all of the following powers and any other powers assigned to them under the regulations:
 - (a) issue, suspend or revoke a permit under this Act;
 - (b) when issuing a permit, include terms and conditions;
 - (c) if satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to do so, enter any premises at any reasonable time for the purpose of
 - (i) inspecting regulated work, regulated products and records respecting regulated work or regulated products, or
 - (ii) investigating any incident;
 - (d) inspect all regulated products and regulated work found on any premises by a safety officer;
 - (e) require any regulated product that is being inspected to be started, turned on, put in motion, tested, used, operated, stopped or turned off for the purpose of its inspection by a safety officer;

- (f) require the production to a safety officer of all plans and specifications a safety officer considers necessary for the inspection of any regulated work or regulated product that a safety officer is inspecting;
- (g) after giving reasonable notice of the intention to do so, remove or take samples of or direct the removal of a regulated product or a part of a regulated product, or require any of them to be provided or delivered to a safety officer;
- (h) require that the names and addresses of licensed contractors or other persons engaged to do regulated work be provided, together with a statement setting out their qualifications, the nature of the work they do and when and where it is done;
- (i) require that a person provide evidence that this Act and the regulations, and any safety order, compliance order, discipline order or decision of a provincial safety manager, a local safety manager or the appeal board is being, or has been, complied with;
- (j) if the presence of a person is necessary in respect of a regulated product or regulated work about which the person has particular knowledge, on reasonable notice, require that a person come to a location at a specified time to answer oral or written questions;
- (k) require that a person produce any record for inspection;
- (l) require a person to produce for inspection any licence, permit, other permission, certificate or any other document issued under this Act to the person by the minister or a local government;
- (m) temporarily remove a record to copy it;
- (n) during or after completion of regulated work, require a certificate or affidavit, given by a person recognized by the regulations as having the authority to provide a certificate or affidavit, that the specified regulated work meets the requirements of this Act and the regulations;
- (o) issue a compliance order;
- (p) issue a variance;
- (q) recommend that the appropriate safety manager impose a monetary penalty.

- (2) A safety officer may require that a person provide information orally, in writing or by an affidavit.
- (3) Despite any other provision under this Act, a safety officer may refuse to issue or may cancel or suspend any certificate, licence, permit or other permission under this Act if a person is delinquent in the payment of any fee, penalty or other money owed under this Act.
- (4) If a safety officer considers that it is necessary to take immediate action in order to prevent, avoid or reduce a risk of personal injury or damage to property and there is no person who could carry out the action, a safety officer may take the necessary action and issue any safety order that could be made by a safety manager under section 31 (4).

Comments Specific to the Affidavit

The affidavit refers to both 'illicit' and 'licensed' Marijuana Grow Operations (MGOs) and comments on MGO related hazards. Most of the analysis seems to focus on illicit operations.

Below are my comments on specific to certain paragraphs of the affidavit provided:

Paragraph 19 – As stated, electrical standards and legislative requirements exist to ensure compliance with safety standards with respect to electrical installations. The applicable legislation and standards are detailed above.

Paragraph 20 – Yes, I would agree that a significant proportion of illicit grow operations have installations in contradiction to the Safety Standards Act and the Canadian Electrical Code. However, the introduction of Health Canada Production licenses has allowed licensed contractors the ability to provide electrical services for these installations where they normally would not. These installations can now be done with the benefit of inspection. Further, Safety Officers can require operating permits for these installations which will allow for annual inspection to ensure continued compliance.

Paragraph 22-23 – As stated, under the MMAR, designated growers are required to abide by legislation regarding safety standards. I would agree that there is potential for individuals to attempt to skirt these regulations, but this is not a problem specific to MGOs. I have encountered many instances of poor electrical work done by a homeowner or business owner who was unaware of or willfully ignored the regulations.

Paragraph 25 – Yes, I would agree that some licensed production facilities have ignored safety standards; however the practice is not restricted to this industry alone. As an electrical contractor, I often find property owners who have performed their own electrical installations (or had acquaintances do them) without permit and in contravention of the Safety Standards Act.

Paragraph 32 – in 7 years, only 314 of 1855 (17%) grow operations inspected by the EFSI team were licensed under the MMAR program. It is reasonable to assume that the electrical works for the remaining 83% were not installed by licensed contractors with the benefit of inspection. It makes sense that there was a significant decrease in fires at grow facilities, given that a large number of the illegal operations were shut down.

Paragraph 35 – If 1255 MMAR production licenses had been issued in the City of Surrey as of August 2013 and the City is only aware of 314 of them, then it is apparent that the remaining 941 (75%) are operating without incidence of electrical problems. If electrical hazards had occurred at these other sites, the City would surely be aware of them.

Paragraph 41 – It is notable that in 2007 when there were the greatest number of illicit operations discovered (445) and only 3 licensed ones, there were 4 fires that were attributed to grow operations (paragraph 55). In 2013, when there were 56 illicit operations and 198 licensed ones, there was only 1 fire attributed to a grow operation.

Paragraph 48 – Yes, illicit grow operators often do bypass the meter to avoid detection and they often do perform improper modifications to the electrical service. This would not occur in legal operations compliant with the SSA. Installation permits ensure that installations are done correctly to begin with, and operating permits ensure that improper modifications or additions are not done after the original inspection.

Paragraph 49 – Much of this report puts emphasis on illicit operations. This information is not relevant to licensed operations that benefit from being installed under permit by qualified contractors.

Paragraph 58 -The math is flawed in this paragraph. Single phase residential electrical services are 240V, not 120V. Additionally, most service panels are only permitted to be loaded to 80% of their current rating so the maximum load on a 100A panel is 80A and on a 200A panel 160A. Demand calculations on services are correctly done utilizing total power. So, in this example, if one lamp utilizes 1000W then 16 lamps = 16000W. The current draw from 16000W on a 240V single phase service would be 16000/240 = 67A. Similarly, 30 lamps would draw 30000/240 = 125A. In both scenarios, the current draw is less than the 80% current rating of the respective panel.

Paragraph 59 – I agree that I have seen such modifications in illicit installations that I have repaired. These would not occur in installations done by licensed contractors under permit.

Paragraph 60 –Yes, marijuana grow operations use a significant amount of power as do any type of grow operation. This does not present a problem if the power is properly metered and paid for. In my experience, the evolution of MGO techniques have actually resulted in a decrease in the required power consumption as new technologies such as digital ballasts and LED fixtures has evolved.

Paragraph 61 – The installations referred to are not compliant with the SSA.

Paragraph 63 – It is reasonable that fire is one, if not the primary concern with grow operations. It is also reasonable to say that electrical energy is a fire hazard potential at any site and this is

not a concern specific to MGOs. The data presented in this affidavit relies on analysis of operations that were found to non-compliant with the SSA.

Paragraph 130 – As a retired paid on call firefighter, I share the concern for the safety of First Responders. With respect to electrical safety, this can be accomplished by ensuring compliance with the Safety Standards Act.

Paragraph 144 – In any industry there will be individuals who do not comply with all the rules.

Please feel free to contact me at 604-462-1688 if you have any questions or require anything further.

Sincerely,

Robert Boileau

APPENDIX "A"

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

<u>License</u> <u>Disclaimer</u>

Qp Date

This Act has "Not in Force" sections. See the <u>Table of Legislative Changes</u>.

Safety Standards Act

[SBC 2003] CHAPTER 39

Assented to May 29, 2003

Contents

· •	-			
	1.3	0T111	111	A40
	IJ	CHI	11.1	ons

Part 1 — Application

- 2 Application of this Act
- 3 Application of Act to mines and pipelines

Part 2 — Administrative Responsibility

- 4 Administration of this Act
- 5 Delegation of administration of this Act to a local government
- 6 Powers of local governments to adopt bylaws
- 7 Fees to be retained by local government

Part 3 — Adoption of Standards, Effect of Certification Mark and Regulated Product Approval

- 8 Minister's powers to make regulations for safety standards
- 9 Certification mark as evidence of meeting standards for a regulated product
- 10 Provincial safety manager may approve regulated products for use

Part 4 — Safety Officers and Safety Managers

<u>Division 1 — Appointments and Duties</u>

- 11 Safety officers
- 12 Safety managers
- 13 Joint appointment by local governments of safety officers and local safety managers
- 14 Identification documents for safety officers and safety managers
- 15 Powers of provincial safety manager
- 16 Powers of local safety manager
- 17 Powers of safety managers
- 18 Powers of safety officers

Division 2 — Cooperation with Safety Managers and Safety Officers

19 Disclosure, cooperation and assistance to safety managers and safety officers

<u>Division 3 — Residential Electricity Information</u>

- 19.1 Definitions
- 19.2 Residential electricity information
- 19.3 Notice of inspection
- 19.4 Compliance with notice

Part 5 — Registry

- 20 Information that may be recorded in the registry
- 21 Public access to registry information
- 22 Administrators to record information in the registry

Part 6 — Licensed Contractors and Certificates of Qualification

Division 1 — Licensed Contractors

- 23 Licensing of contractors
- 24 Duties and entitlements of a licensed contractor
- 25 Maintaining and renewing licenses

Division 2 — Certificate of Qualification

26 Certificate of qualification

Part 7 — Administration and Enforcement

Division 1 — Issue of Permissions

- 27 Issue of permissions
- 28 Operating permits
- 29 Discretion whether to inspect after issue of permit

<u>Division 2 — Directives, Safety Orders and Variances</u>

- 30 Directives
- 31 Safety orders
- 32 Variances

<u>Division 3 — Alternative Safety Approaches</u>

- 33 Alternative safety approaches
- 34 When a provincial safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach
- 35 When a local safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach

Division 4 — Incident Reports and Investigations

- 36 Reporting incidents
- 37 Investigating incidents

<u>Division 5</u> — Enforcement

- 38 Compliance orders
- 39 Court ordered compliance
- 40 Monetary penalty
- 41 Enforcement of monetary penalties
- 42 Discipline orders

Page 2 of 46

Part 8 — Safety Standards Appeal Board

- 43 Appeal board established
- 44 Application of Administrative Tribunals Act
- 45 Impartiality of appeal board
- 46 Repealed
- 47 Repealed
- 48 Repealed

Part 9 — Review and Appeal Process

<u>Division 1 — Request for Review</u>

- 49 Review of safety officer's decision
- 50 Safety manager's decision

Division 2 — Appeals to the Safety Standards Appeal Board

- 51 Right to appeal
- 52 Jurisdiction of the appeal board
- 53 Nature of appeal
- 54 Appeal does not operate as a stay unless appeal board otherwise orders
- 55–58 Repealed
- 59 Appeal board's hearing
- 60 Decision of appeal board is final
- 61 Repealed
- 62 Enforcement of appeal board orders

Part 10 — Prohibitions, Offences and Penalties

<u>Division 1 — Prohibitions</u>

- 63 General prohibitions
- 64 Assembly, construction or installation of regulated products
- 65 Testing of regulated products
- 66 Maintenance and repair of regulated products
- 67 Additions to a regulated product
- 68 Alteration of regulated products
- 69 Operation and use of regulated products
- 70 Disposal of regulated products
- 71 Regulated work

Division 2 — Offences

- 72 Offences
- 73 Creating unsafe conditions and condoning prohibited activities
- 74 Tampering with certification or product approval mark
- 75 Offences by corporations

Page 3 of 46

76 Offence Act

77 Limitation period for starting proceedings

<u>Division 3</u> — Penalties

78 Penalty

79 Remedial orders

Part 11 — General

80 How to serve documents and notices

81 Advisory bodies

Part 12 — Delegation of Administration

82 Definitions for this Part

83 Administrative agreement with an authority required

84 Power to delegate administration of Act to an authority

85 Delegation does not make an authority an agent of the government

86 Power of an authority to set fees for matters under its administration

87 Power to order an audit

Part 13 — Regulation-making Authority

88 Minister's power to make regulations

89 Lieutenant Governor in Council power to make regulations

Part 14 — Transitional Provisions

90 Transitional

91 Repealed

Part 15 — Transitional Appropriation

91.1 Appropriation for allocation of long term fees to British Columbia Safety Authority

92- Consequential Amendments

101

102 Repeals

103 Commencement

Definitions

1 In this Act:

"advisory body" means an advisory body established under section 81;

"alteration" includes adding to, replacement and removal;

"alternative safety approach" means a written proposal, accepted by a safety manager under section 33, which

(a) sets out approaches to safety that are consistent with the objectives under this Act and are substituted for one or more requirements of the regulations, or

Page 4 of 46

- (b) if the regulations do not address safety in respect of particular regulated work or a particular regulated product, establishes a plan consistent with the objectives under this Act for the safe undertaking of that regulated work or the safe use of that regulated product;
- "appeal board" means the Safety Standards Appeal Board established under section 43;
- "certificate of qualification" means a certificate issued by a provincial safety manager to an individual who provides evidence of their knowledge and ability to do regulated work in a manner that meets the requirements under this Act and which allows an individual to perform regulated work in British Columbia within the scope of the certificate;
- "certification agency" means a person or class of persons designated by the regulations as a certification agency;
- "certification mark" means a stamp, mark, seal, label, tag or other identification of a certification agency certifying that the regulated product to which it is affixed or attached or in which it is embedded meets the standard that the product must meet for that certification;
- "incident" means an event occurring as a result of regulated work, or the testing, use or operation of a regulated product, that
- (a) causes death, personal injury or damage to property, or
- (b) creates a risk of personal injury or damage to property;
- "inspect" includes investigate, monitor and audit;
- "licensed contractor" means a person who is licensed under section 23 as a licensed contractor to do regulated work in one or more disciplines specified in the licence;
- "local government" has the same meaning as in the <u>Local Government Act</u>, and includes the council of the City of Vancouver;
- "local safety manager" means an individual appointed as a local safety manager under section 12 (2);
- "monetary penalty" means a monetary penalty imposed under section 40;
- "operating permit" means a permit issued by a safety officer under section 28;
- "owner" includes a lessee:
- "permission" means a permission authorized under this Act;
- "premises" means land, a building or a structure in, on or under which a regulated product is located or where regulated work is done;
- "provincial safety manager" means an individual appointed under section 12 (1) as a provincial safety manager;
- "registrar" means the provincial safety manager designated as the registrar under section 20 (1);

Page 5 of 46 18/12/2014

- "registry" means the registry established under section 20 (1);
- "regulated product" means a product or thing referred to in section 2 (1) (b), and if specified in the regulations, a part of that product or thing;
- "regulated work" means
- (a) the assembly, manufacture, construction, installation, operation, testing, maintenance or repair of a regulated product, and
- (b) the alteration of a regulated product;
- "regulations" includes codes and standards adopted under this Act;
- "safety manager" means a provincial safety manager or a local safety manager;
- "safety officer" means an individual qualified under this Act and appointed under section 11 as a safety officer;
- "variance" means a document without precedential value issued, for an individual circumstance on a single occasion, by a safety officer or safety manager allowing
- (a) a deviation from the application of a regulation under this Act, or
- (b) a use, other than the standard use, of a regulated product if the proposed use is not specifically prohibited under this Act.

Part 1 — Application

Application of this Act

- 2 (1) This Act and the regulations apply to all of the following:
- (a) persons doing regulated work;
- (b) all of the following regulated products as they are defined in the regulations:
- (i) amusement rides;
- (ii) passenger ropeways;
- (iii) boilers and boiler systems;
- (iv) electrical equipment;
- (v) elevating devices and passenger conveyors;
- (vi) gas systems and equipment;
- (vii) pressure vessels;
- (viii) pressure piping;

Page 6 of 46

- (ix) refrigeration systems and equipment;
- (x) any other regulated product specified in the regulations;
- (c) all of the disciplines, as defined by the regulations, relating to regulated products.
- (2) The regulations may, with or without conditions, exempt completely or partially from the application of any or all provisions of this Act and the regulations any of the following:
- (a) a person or class of persons;
- (b) any regulated product;
- (c) any regulated work or class of regulated work;
- (d) anything referred to in this subsection that is in a specified geographic area.

Application of Act to mines and pipelines

- 3 (1) While a regulated product is used in the operation of or in association with a mine as defined in the <u>Mines Act</u>, this Act does not apply to the regulated product or to a person who does regulated work in respect of that regulated product.
- (2) While a regulated product, other than products referred to in section 2 (1)(b) (iii), (iv), (vii), (viii) or (ix), is attached to, used in the operation of or in association with, a pipeline as defined in section 1 (2) of the <u>Oil and Gas Activities Act</u>, this Act does not apply to the regulated product or to a person who does regulated work in respect of that regulated product.

Part 2 — Administrative Responsibility

Administration of this Act

- 4 The minister is responsible for the administration of this Act and the regulations except to the extent that
- (a) the administration of any provision of this Act or the regulations is delegated under section 5 to a local government, or
- (b) the administration of any provision of this Act or the regulations is delegated to an authority under Part 12.

Delegation of administration of this Act to a local government

- 5 (1) The minister may enter into an administrative agreement with a local government to administer provisions of this Act and the regulations.
- (2) The administrative agreement must provide for all of the following:
- (a) the objectives that the local government must meet in administering the matters delegated to the local government;

Page 7 of 46

- (b) timely reporting of incidents that come to the attention of the local government;
- (c) the process by which the administrative agreement may be amended.
- (3) If the minister enters into an administrative agreement with a local government, the Lieutenant Governor in Council may, by regulation, delegate to a local government the administration of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations except a power to make regulations.
- (4) If an amendment to the delegation regulation could substantively affect an administrative agreement, the minister must give reasonable notice to the local government of the proposed amendment and must consult on it with the local government.
- (5) If the Lieutenant Governor in Council repeals a regulation made under subsection (3), the administrative agreement is terminated.
- (6) A local government administering this Act and the regulations may, on reasonable notice to the minister, transfer back to the government all or any part of that administration.
- (7) Section 175 of the Community Charter does not apply to an agreement under this section.

Powers of local governments to adopt bylaws

- 6 (1) Despite any other enactment, a local government may not adopt a bylaw concerning a standard that is or could be dealt with under this Act unless the bylaw is
- (a) enacted in accordance with a regulation under subsection (2),
- (b) enacted in accordance with an agreement under subsection (3), or
- (c) approved by the minister.
- (2) The minister may, by regulation, do any of the following:
- (a) establish matters in relation to which local governments may exercise authority with regard to standards that could otherwise be dealt with under this Act,
- (i) by specifying the matters in relation to which local governments may exercise the authority, or
- (ii) by providing that the restriction under subsection (1) only applies in relation to specified matters;
- (b) provide that the exercise of that authority is subject to the restrictions and conditions specified by the minister responsible or by a person designated by name or title in the regulation.
- (3) The minister may enter into an agreement with a local government that has the same effect in relation to the local government as a regulation that could be made under subsection (2).
- (4) If,
- (a) a regulation or agreement under this section is amended or repealed, and

Page 8 of 46

(b) the effect of the amendment or repeal is that bylaws that previously did not require approval under subsection (1) would now require that approval

those bylaws affected that were validly in force at the time of the amendment or repeal continue in force as if they had been approved by the minister.

(5) Subsection (1) applies to the amendment or repeal of a bylaw that is in force on the coming into force of this section.

Fees to be retained by local government

7 Fees, monetary penalties or charges imposed by a local government in the course of its administration and enforcement of this Act and the regulations must be paid to the local government.

Part 3 — Adoption of Standards, Effect of Certification Mark and Regulated Product Approval

Minister's powers to make regulations for safety standards

- 8 The minister may make regulations as follows:
- (a) establishing codes or standards respecting regulated work and regulated products;
- (b) as provided in the <u>Regulations Act</u>, enacting a code or standard by adopting material by reference or adopting all or part of a code or standard by reference.

Certification mark as evidence of meeting standards for a regulated product

9 The presence of a certification mark is proof, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, that the regulated product meets the standard that the product must meet for that certification.

Provincial safety manager may approve regulated products for use

- 10 (1) Every provincial safety manager, other than the registrar, may approve regulated products in accordance with the regulations for use in British Columbia even if there is no certification mark present on the regulated product.
- (2) If a provincial safety manager approves a product for use under subsection (1), the provincial safety manager may attach an approval mark that is readily identifiable as an approval mark or if it is impracticable to attach an approval mark, may order that notice of the product approval accompany the regulated product or be posted where the regulated product is to be used or installed.
- (3) If a provincial safety manager accepts, for use under an alternative safety approach, a regulated product that does not have a certification mark or an approval mark attached,
- (a) the provincial safety manager must order the proponent of the alternative safety approach to
- (i) attach to the regulated product a notice stating that the regulated product has been accepted for use in accordance with an alternative safety approach, or

Page 9 of 46 18/12/2014

- (ii) if it would be impractical to attach the notice referred to in subparagraph (i), ensure that the notice accompany the regulated product or post the notice where the regulated product is to be used or installed, and
- (b) the regulated product may be used only in accordance with the requirements, terms and conditions of the alternative safety approach.

Part 4 — Safety Officers and Safety Managers

Division 1 — Appointments and Duties

Safety officers

11 The minister or a local government that administers this Act and the regulations must appoint safety officers in accordance with this Act and the regulations.

Safety managers

- 12 (1) The minister must appoint provincial safety managers to administer this Act and the regulations.
- (2) A local government that administers any part of this Act and the regulations must appoint local safety managers to administer this Act and the regulations for the purposes of the local government.

Joint appointment by local governments of safety officers and local safety managers

13 For the purposes of sections 11 and 12 (2), a local government may enter into an agreement with one or more other local governments to appoint safety officers or local safety managers and authorize them to act for all the participating local governments.

Identification documents for safety officers and safety managers

- 14 (1) The minister must issue appropriate identification to safety officers appointed by the minister and to provincial safety managers.
- (2) A local government must issue appropriate identification to safety officers and local safety managers appointed by the local government.
- (3) On request by any person, safety officers and safety managers must produce for inspection their identification issued under subsection (1) or (2).

Powers of provincial safety manager

- 15 A provincial safety manager may exercise any or all of the powers of a safety officer and may do one or more of the following:
- (a) issue, suspend or revoke a certificate of qualification;
- (b) issue, suspend or revoke a licence;

Page 10 of 46 18/12/2014

- (c) when issuing a licence, include in the licence a term or condition;
- (d) issue a safety order;
- (e) review a decision of a safety officer appointed by the minister;
- (f) issue a directive or discipline order;
- (g) delegate any of the powers under paragraphs (a) to (f) of this section to a safety officer appointed by the minister;
- (h) delegate to a safety officer or class of safety officers the power to issue a licence for a licensed contractor or certificate of qualifications to an individual;
- (i) require a person who holds a licence, certificate, permit or other permission under this Act to be reexamined as to their qualifications to maintain or renew the licence, certificate, permit or other permission;
- (j) if the regulations require further training for persons who hold a certificate, permit or other permission of a particular class, require a person who holds a certificate, permit or other permission to undertake further training or examination in order to maintain their status and for that purpose may devise and administer tests;
- (k) recognize programs of training for the purpose of qualifying for a licence, certificate, permit or other permission under this Act;
- (l) evaluate the qualifications of a person who applies for a licence, certificate, permit or other permission under this Act.

Powers of local safety manager

- 16 A local safety manager may exercise any or all of the powers of a safety officer and may do the following:
- (a) recommend to a provincial safety manager the revocation or suspension of a licence under this Act;
- (b) review a decision of a safety officer appointed by the local government.

Powers of safety managers

- 17 (1) A safety manager may do any of the following:
- (a) subject to the regulations,
- (i) accept, with or without terms and conditions, an alternative safety approach,
- (ii) vary the terms and conditions of, or impose new terms and conditions on, an alternative safety approach, and

Page 11 of 46 18/12/2014

- (iii) suspend or cancel an alternative safety approach;
- (b) impose a monetary penalty.
- (2) In addition to the powers under subsection (1), a safety manager has the powers assigned by the regulations.

Powers of safety officers

- 18 (1) For the purposes of this Act and in the course of performing their duties, safety officers may exercise any or all of the following powers and any other powers assigned to them under the regulations:
- (a) issue, suspend or revoke a permit under this Act;
- (b) when issuing a permit, include terms and conditions;
- (c) if satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to do so, enter any premises at any reasonable time for the purpose of
- (i) inspecting regulated work, regulated products and records respecting regulated work or regulated products, or
- (ii) investigating any incident;
- (d) inspect all regulated products and regulated work found on any premises by a safety officer;
- (e) require any regulated product that is being inspected to be started, turned on, put in motion, tested, used, operated, stopped or turned off for the purpose of its inspection by a safety officer;
- (f) require the production to a safety officer of all plans and specifications a safety officer considers necessary for the inspection of any regulated work or regulated product that a safety officer is inspecting;
- (g) after giving reasonable notice of the intention to do so, remove or take samples of or direct the removal of a regulated product or a part of a regulated product, or require any of them to be provided or delivered to a safety officer;
- (h) require that the names and addresses of licensed contractors or other persons engaged to do regulated work be provided, together with a statement setting out their qualifications, the nature of the work they do and when and where it is done;
- (i) require that a person provide evidence that this Act and the regulations, and any safety order, compliance order, discipline order or decision of a provincial safety manager, a local safety manager or the appeal board is being, or has been, complied with;
- (j) if the presence of a person is necessary in respect of a regulated product or regulated work about which the person has particular knowledge, on reasonable notice, require that a person come to a location at a specified time to answer oral or written questions;
- (k) require that a person produce any record for inspection;

Page 12 of 46 18/12/2014

- (l) require a person to produce for inspection any licence, permit, other permission, certificate or any other document issued under this Act to the person by the minister or a local government;
- (m) temporarily remove a record to copy it;
- (n) during or after completion of regulated work, require a certificate or affidavit, given by a person recognized by the regulations as having the authority to provide a certificate or affidavit, that the specified regulated work meets the requirements of this Act and the regulations;
- (o) issue a compliance order;
- (p) issue a variance;
- (q) recommend that the appropriate safety manager impose a monetary penalty.
- (2) A safety officer may require that a person provide information orally, in writing or by an affidavit.
- (3) Despite any other provision under this Act, a safety officer may refuse to issue or may cancel or suspend any certificate, licence, permit or other permission under this Act if a person is delinquent in the payment of any fee, penalty or other money owed under this Act.
- (4) If a safety officer considers that it is necessary to take immediate action in order to prevent, avoid or reduce a risk of personal injury or damage to property and there is no person who could carry out the action, a safety officer may take the necessary action and issue any safety order that could be made by a safety manager under section 31 (4).

Division 2 — Cooperation with Safety Managers and Safety Officers

Disclosure, cooperation and assistance to safety managers and safety officers

- 19 (1) Every person who is subject to this Act and the regulations must cooperate with safety managers and safety officers in the performance of their duties, and provide to them any equipment or assistance that is reasonably necessary.
- (2) An owner and the person in charge of the premises must take all necessary precautions to ensure the safety of people and property while safety managers and safety officers carry out their duties.
- (3) A licensed contractor or other person performing regulated work must disclose to a safety manager or safety officer any regulated product or regulated work that creates a risk of personal injury or damage to property.
- (4) An employer must not dismiss, suspend, lay off, penalize, discipline or discriminate against any person if the reason for doing so is in any way related to the disclosure referred to in subsection (3).

Division 3 — Residential Electricity Information

Definitions

19.1 In this Division:

Page 13 of 46

amon aminimas viet

"account information" means

- (a) the name of the account holder with respect to,
- (b) the service address of and billing address for, and
- (c) the electricity consumption data with respect to,

a residence to which an electricity distributor distributes electricity;

"electricity consumption data" means available electricity consumption data

- (a) for the most recently completed billing period at the time a request is made under section 19.2 (1), and
- (b) for the previous 24-month billing period;

"electricity distributor" means

- (a) the British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority continued under the <u>Hydro and Power Authority Act</u>,
- (b) a public utility, within the meaning of the <u>Utilities Commission Act</u>, that owns or operates electricity equipment or facilities, and
- (c) a municipality that owns or operates electricity equipment or facilities and that would be a public utility within the meaning of the <u>Utilities Commission Act</u>, but for paragraph (c) of the definition of "public utility" in that Act;
- "residence" means premises designed for use as a private dwelling, and any other building or structure adjacent to those premises that is intended for the private use of the owner or occupier of those premises;
- "residential electricity information" means the available account information for all of the residences that
- (a) are within the jurisdictional boundaries of a local government that makes a request under section 19.2 (1), and
- (b) according to the current records of the electricity distributor distributing electricity to the residences, are consuming electricity at a level within a range prescribed by regulation.

Residential electricity information

- 19.2 (1) A local government may request, in writing, from an electricity distributor the residential electricity information with respect to the residences within its jurisdictional boundaries.
- (2) If an electricity distributor receives a request under subsection (1), the electricity distributor must provide that residential electricity information to the local government within a reasonable time.

Page 14 of 46 18/12/2014

DURN'S DIMINGRAPH TICE

- (3) A local government that receives residential electricity information from an electricity distributor under this section may disclose account information derived from that residential electricity information, or a portion of that account information, to
- (a) an authority to which the administration of the Act has been delegated under Part 2 or Part 12, and
- (b) a provincial police force or a municipal police department, as those terms are defined in the <u>Police Act</u>.

Notice of inspection

- 19.3 (1) If, after receiving account information under section 19.2 (3), a safety officer intends on the basis of that information to exercise the power granted under section 18 (1) (c) and (d) with respect to a residence identified in the account information, the safety officer must give a notice to the owner or occupier of that residence.
- (2) The notice under subsection (1) must
- (a) be in writing,
- (b) state the safety officer's intention to enter the residence and conduct an inspection, and the reasons for the intended entry and inspection,
- (c) set out the date by which the owner or occupier must reply to the notice to arrange a date and time for the safety officer to enter the residence and conduct an inspection,
- (d) set out how to reply to the notice, and
- (e) state that the safety officer may issue a compliance order if the owner or occupier does not
- (i) reply to the notice within 2 days of the date on which it was received,
- (ii) within a reasonable time complete arrangements to the satisfaction of the safety officer for the safety officer to enter the residence and conduct an inspection, or
- (iii) allow the safety officer to enter the residence at the arranged date and time.

Compliance with notice

- 19.4 An owner or occupier who receives a notice under section 19.3 (1) must
- (a) reply to the notice within 2 days of the date on which it was received,
- (b) within a reasonable time complete arrangements to the satisfaction of the safety officer for the safety officer to enter the residence and conduct an inspection, and
- (c) allow the safety officer to enter the residence at the arranged date and time.

Part 5 — Registry

Page 15 of 46 18/12/2014

outer community

Information that may be recorded in the registry

- 20 (1) For the purpose of furthering safety in relation to regulated work and regulated products, the minister must designate a provincial safety manager as the registrar and must establish a registry to record the names of licensed contractors and former licensed contractors and any information required by this Act and the regulations, including the following:
- (a) each discipline defined in the regulations under section 2 (1) (c) in which each contractor is licensed to do regulated work;
- (b) the nature and scope of the regulated work a contractor is licensed to do and any terms and conditions imposed on the contractor or attached to their licences;
- (c) the status of their licences;
- (d) any compliance orders, monetary penalties or discipline orders issued to them, any convictions for offences under this Act and whether any amounts payable remain outstanding:
- (e) an address for each of them for the purpose of service of documents.
- (2) The registrar is responsible for maintaining the registry and for carrying out any duties in respect of the registry under this Act.
- (3) The registrar may remove the name of any of the following:
- (a) a licensed contractor or former licensed contractor if
- (i) the licensed contractor or former licensed contractor is a corporation and the corporation is dissolved or struck off the register of companies, or
- (ii) the licensed contractor or former licensed contractor is an individual and the individual dies or surrenders their licence;
- (b) a licensed contractor or a former licensed contractor if their licence is revoked or cancelled under a discipline order.
- (4) A record of a compliance order, monetary penalty or discipline order that has been complied with, and any other information recorded in the registry, may be removed in accordance with the regulations.
- (5) A person whose name is entered in the register under this section must provide the registrar with and keep the registrar informed of the person's current address for the purpose of service of documents.

Public access to registry information

- 21 (1) In this section, "personal information" means personal information as defined in the <u>Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act</u> only in respect of the following individuals:
- (a) a licensed contractor;

Page 16 of 46 18/12/2014

- (b) a former licensed contractor.
- (2) On the request of any person and on payment of any required fee, personal information recorded in the registry under section 20 (1) in respect of licensed contractors and former licensed contractors must be disclosed by the registrar, except the following information:
- (a) the details of a compliance order other than the existence of an order and the date of issue;
- (b) details of a discipline order other than the existence of a discipline order issued against a person, the date of issue, the reason for issuing it and any sanction contained in the order;
- (c) personal financial information;
- (d) any address.
- (3) The registrar must not disclose personal information recorded under section 20 about a licensed contractor or a former licensed contractor
- (a) until the time for requesting a review under section 49 has expired, or if a review has been requested, the review has been completed, and
- (b) until the time for filing an appeal from the matter has expired or, if an appeal is filed, the appeal is disposed of or abandoned.
- (4) Despite subsections (1) and (2), the registrar must not disclose whether a monetary penalty imposed on a licensed contractor or a former licensed contractor has been paid.

Administrators to record information in the registry

- 22 (1) The minister or a local government that administers this Act and the regulations may collect information necessary for
- (a) the issuing of any licence, permit, certificate, variance, safety order, discipline order or compliance order under this Act or other document required under this Act, or
- (b) the evaluation of a proposed alternative safety approach.
- (2) Any information collected under subsection (1) must be submitted to the registrar in a form specified by the registrar.
- (3) The minister or a local government that
- (a) issues a licence, permit, certificate, variance, safety order, discipline order or compliance order under this Act, or
- (b) accepts an alternative safety approach
- must submit a record of its issue or acceptance, and its contents, to the registrar in a form specified by the registrar.
- (4) The minister or a local government that administers this Act and the regulations must not

Page 17 of 46 18/12/2014

- (a) issue a permit or variance under this Act, or
- (b) accept an alternative safety approach

unless the applicant or the proponent, as applicable, already holds an appropriate and current licence or other permission recorded in the registry.

Part 6 — Licensed Contractors and Certificates of Qualification

Division 1 — Licensed Contractors

Licensing of contractors

- 23 (1) A person must not do any of the following unless licensed by a provincial safety manager or authorized to do so under this Act:
- (a) manage or direct individuals doing regulated work;
- (b) do regulated work for another person who is not a licensed contractor.
- (2) If a person pays the required application fee and meets the prescribed requirements for licensing, the person must be issued a licence for each discipline defined in the regulations under section 2 (1) (c) for which the person qualifies.
- (3) A licence issued under subsection (2)
- (a) may specify the regulated work that the licensed contractor may do, and
- (b) is subject to terms and conditions provided for under the regulations or attached by a safety manager.
- (4) A person who holds a licence issued under this section must comply with the terms and conditions of the licence.
- (5) A provincial safety manager may examine the person's qualifications and the qualifications of the person's employees and determine the scope of the contractor's licence.
- (6) For the purposes of subsection (5), a provincial safety manager may devise and administer examinations.
- (7) If, in the opinion of a provincial safety manager, the person does not meet the requirements for a licence or if the licence is issued with terms or conditions attached to it under subsection (3) (b) that are not requested or agreed to by the person, the provincial safety manager must give the person written notice of that decision.
- (8) The notice must state the reasons for the decision and that the person has the right to appeal the decision to the appeal board.

Duties and entitlements of a licensed contractor

Page 18 of 46

- 24 (1) A contractor is entitled to engage in the regulated work for which the contractor is licensed.
- (2) A licensed contractor must not
- (a) manage or do regulated work that is
- (i) outside the scope of the licence,
- (ii) contrary to any term or condition of the licence, or
- (iii) contrary to any term or condition imposed by the regulations on the use of the licence, or
- (b) permit regulated work to be undertaken by persons under the control of the licensed contractor if they are not authorized under this Act.
- (3) A licensed contractor must
- (a) maintain current knowledge of this Act, relevant regulations, relevant directives, relevant safety orders and any other relevant material that the minister makes publicly available, and
- (b) ensure that individuals who do regulated work for the licensed contractor maintain similar current knowledge.

Maintaining and renewing licenses

- 25 (1) A licensed contractor must do all of the following in accordance with the regulations:
- (a) maintain any bond, guarantee, warranty, insurance or other form of security, as required by the regulations, with respect to regulated work;
- (b) before a licence is renewed or reissued, pay any unpaid penalty, costs, interest or other charge imposed under this Act, unless some other arrangement for payment has been made that is satisfactory to a provincial safety manager.
- (2) If any amount referred to in subsection (1) (b) has not been paid, a renewal or reissue of any licence may be refused.
- (3) Subsection (2) does not apply to a monetary penalty while the penalty is the subject of an appeal.
- (4) Unless a provincial safety manager otherwise directs, the licence of a licensed contractor is automatically suspended without notice if the licensed contractor fails to renew the licence on or before the date indicated in the licence.
- (5) The automatic suspension of a licence ends as soon as the licence is renewed.

Division 2 — Certificate of Qualification

Certificate of qualification

Page 19 of 46 18/12/2014

- 26 (1) An individual who wishes to be certified as qualified to perform regulated work may, in accordance with the regulations, apply to a provincial safety manager for a certificate of qualification in one or more disciplines as defined in the regulations under section 2 (1) (c).
- (2) An applicant who pays the required application fee and meets the requirements of the regulations for a certificate of qualification must be issued a certificate of qualification in each discipline for which the applicant is qualified.
- (3) A provincial safety manager must examine the applicant's qualifications and determine their level or category of qualification and for that purpose may devise and administer tests.
- (4) If, in the opinion of a provincial safety manager, the applicant does not meet the requirements under the regulations for a certificate of qualification, the provincial safety manager must give the applicant written notice of that decision.
- (5) The notice must state the reasons for the decision and that the applicant has the right to appeal the decision to the appeal board.

Part 7 — Administration and Enforcement

Division 1 — Issue of Permissions

Issue of permissions

- 27 (1) If required under this Act, a person must obtain a permission to undertake regulated work or use a regulated product.
- (2) If a person applies for a permit, certificate or other permission and a safety manager or safety officer refuses to issue it, or issues it with terms or conditions attached to it that are not requested or agreed to by the applicant, the safety manager or safety officer who deals with the application must inform the applicant and, if the applicant requests written notice, give the applicant written notice of that decision.
- (3) A permission issued under subsection (1) is subject to terms and conditions provided for under the regulations or attached to the permission by a safety manager or safety officer.
- (4) A person who holds a permit issued under this section must comply with the terms and conditions of the permit.
- (5) A written notice under subsection (2) must state the reasons for the decision and that the applicant has the right to make a written request for a review by a safety manager under section 49 or to appeal to the appeal board.
- (6) A permit, certificate or other permission issued under this section may be renewed.

Operating permits

28 (1) In accordance with the regulations, a safety officer may issue an operating permit that allows the use of a regulated product listed in section 2 (1) (b) for one or more disciplines.

Page 20 of 46

- (2) A permit issued under subsection (1) is subject to terms and conditions provided for under the regulations or attached to the permit by a safety officer.
- (3) An operating permit may be issued for a term up to 5 years.
- (4) A person who holds a permit issued under this section must comply with the terms and conditions of the permit.
- (5) A person who holds an operating permit must ensure that individuals who do regulated work under the permit maintain current knowledge of this Act, relevant regulations, relevant directives, relevant safety orders and any other relevant material that the minister makes publicly available.
- (6) A person who holds an operating permit must not allow regulated work to be undertaken by persons under the permit unless they are authorized under this Act.

Discretion whether to inspect after issue of permit

29 Except as otherwise provided under this Act a safety officer is not required to inspect regulated work or a regulated product solely because a permit was issued in respect of the regulated work or regulated product.

Division 2 — Directives, Safety Orders and Variances

Directives

- **30** (1) A provincial safety manager may, in writing, on their own initiative or if requested by any person, issue a directive on the interpretation, application or operation of this Act and the regulations.
- (2) The directive may be issued
- (a) generally,
- (b) for a specific regulated product or class of regulated products,
- (c) for specific regulated work or class of regulated work,
- (d) for a class of persons, or
- (e) for or in relation to a specified period of time.
- (3) The provincial safety manager must make reasonable efforts to notify all persons affected by a directive.
- (4) If there is a conflict between a regulation and a directive of a provincial safety manager, the regulation prevails.
- (5) A directive may be given in advance of an application for a permit, certificate or other permission required under this Act.

Page 21 of 46 18/12/2014

Safety orders

- 31 (1) To prevent, avoid or reduce risk of personal injury or damage to property, a provincial safety manager may, in writing, issue a safety order.
- (2) A safety order may be issued to any person in relation to any of the following:
- (a) regulated work or regulated products generally;
- (b) a specific class of regulated product or regulated work;
- (c) a specific regulated product or regulated work.
- (3) For certainty, a safety order issued under this section may apply to
- (a) regulated work that meets the requirements under this Act,
- (b) regulated work that previously met the requirements under this Act or a former Act but does not meet the current requirements under this Act,
- (c) regulated products that meet the requirements under this Act, or
- (d) regulated products that previously met the requirements under this Act or a former Act but do not meet the current requirements under this Act, including a regulated product that bears a certification mark.
- (4) A safety order may specify any requirement that is intended to prevent, avoid or reduce the risk of personal injury or damage to property and may include any of the following orders:
- (a) that an existing regulated work or regulated product must be made safe in compliance with the safety order;
- (b) that a regulated product must be
- (i) disconnected from a power source,
- (ii) uninstalled, or
- (iii) modified before continued use;
- (c) that a regulated product must be operated, installed, manufactured or disposed of only as specified or that a regulated product must not be moved;
- (d) that current or future regulated work or a regulated product must conform to the terms or conditions of the order;
- (e) that a person take or refrain from taking any action that a safety manager considers necessary to prevent, avoid or reduce a risk of personal injury to persons or damage to property;
- (f) that the manufacturer make reasonable efforts to recall the regulated product.

Page 22 of 46 18/12/2014

- (5) The provincial safety manager must give written notice of the safety order to the following persons:
- (a) the manufacturer of the regulated product;
- (b) an owner of the regulated product if the identity of the owner is known to the provincial safety manager;
- (c) the person in charge of the regulated work.
- (6) The notice must state the reasons for the decision and that the person has the right to appeal the decision to the appeal board.
- (7) Despite section 54, a safety order may not be stayed during an appeal.

Variances

- 32 (1) A safety officer may, if requested by any person, issue, in writing, a variance to the person varying the application of a provision of the regulations with respect to a regulated product or regulated work.
- (2) A variance may
- (a) be made subject to terms and conditions specified by the safety officer, and
- (b) continue for a specified period of time.
- (3) If the person who holds a variance complies with the terms and conditions of the variance, the person must be considered to be in compliance with the regulation that it varies.
- (4) If a person applies for a variance and a safety officer refuses to issue it, or issues it with terms or conditions attached to it that are not requested or agreed to by the applicant, the safety officer who deals with the application must inform the applicant and, if the applicant requests written notice, give the applicant written notice of that decision.
- (5) A written notice under subsection (4) must state the reasons for the decision and that the applicant has the right to make a written request for a review by a safety manager.
- (6) A decision of a safety manager on a review of a decision under subsection (4) is not appealable to the appeal board.

Division 3 — Alternative Safety Approaches

Alternative safety approaches

- 33 (1) A proposal for an alternative safety approach must be submitted to a safety manager in the form and in the manner acceptable to the safety manager.
- (2) In accordance with the regulations and sections 34 and 35, a safety manager may accept a proposed alternative safety approach if

Page 23 of 46 18/12/2014

- (a) the safety manager considers that the proposed alternative safety approach limits the risk of personal injury or damage to property to a level that is consistent with the objectives of this Act and the regulations made under it, and
- (b) in all the circumstances, the safety manager is satisfied that the proposed alternative safety approach should be accepted.
- (3) If a safety manager accepts an alternative safety approach,
- (a) the proponent is exempt from one or more requirements of the regulations as set out in the alternative safety approach, if any, except as modified by the safety manager,
- (b) the exemption under paragraph (a) continues for the time set out in the alternative safety approach, except
- (i) as modified by the safety manager,
- (ii) during any period the alternative safety approach is suspended, or
- (iii) if the alternative safety approach is cancelled, and
- (c) any matter addressed in the alternative safety approach may be inspected for the purpose of determining the following:
- (i) whether the proponent is complying with the requirements, terms and conditions of the alternative safety approach;
- (ii) the extent to which the alternative safety approach is meeting the objectives of this Act and the regulations made under it.
- (4) The proponent of an accepted alternative safety approach is responsible for ensuring that persons who undertake regulated work or use a regulated product that is the subject of the alternative safety approach comply with the requirements, terms and conditions of that alternative safety approach.
- (5) If a safety manager refuses to accept, or suspends or cancels, an alternative safety approach,
- (a) the safety manager must provide the proponent, on the proponent's request, with written reasons for the refusal, suspension or cancellation, and
- (b) the refusal, suspension or cancellation is not appealable to the appeal board.

When a provincial safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach

- 34 (1) Unless section 35 (1) applies, a provincial safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach that applies to any area of British Columbia, including an area in which this Act and the regulations are administered by a local government.
- (2) A provincial safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach that applies to more than one discipline as defined by regulation under section 2 (c).

Page 24 of 46 18/12/2014

- (3) A provincial safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach if more than one administrator would have administrative responsibility for the alternative safety approach because it relates to more than one site.
- (4) For the purposes of subsection (3), "administrator" means either of the following:
- (a) the minister;
- (b) a local government to which administration of this Act and the regulations is delegated under section 5.

When a local safety manager may accept an alternative safety approach

- 35 (1) A local safety manager may only accept an alternative safety approach that
- (a) applies within that local government area, and
- (b) applies to disciplines that are administered by that local government.
- (2) Even if a local safety manager could accept an alternative safety approach under subsection (1), the local safety manager may refer a request to accept an alternative safety approach to a provincial safety manager.
- (3) On a referral under subsection (2), a provincial safety manager may
- (a) accept an alternative safety approach as if the request had been made under section 33 and, if so, that section applies as if the alternative safety approach did not relate to a local government area, or
- (b) refuse to accept an alternative safety approach.

Division 4 — Incident Reports and Investigations

Reporting incidents

- 36 (1) As soon as practicable after an incident occurs, the person in charge of the regulated product or regulated work, the owner of the regulated product and any other person specified by regulation are responsible for reporting the incident, in accordance with the regulations, to the appropriate safety manager.
- (2) A person must not remove, disturb or interfere with anything in, on or about the place where the incident occurred except for the following:
- (a) as is necessary to rescue a person, to prevent personal injury or death or to protect property;
- (b) in accordance with the regulations;
- (c) in accordance with the directions of a safety officer or safety manager.

Investigating incidents

Page 25 of 46 18/12/2014

- 37 (1) Whether or not the incident was reported, a safety officer may investigate an incident.
- (2) A provincial safety manager may appoint persons to assist in the investigation of an incident.
- (3) A person appointed under subsection (2), for the purposes of assisting in the investigation,
- (a) has all the powers of a safety officer under section 18 (1) (c) to (n) and (2), and
- (b) must report on the investigation to the provincial safety manager who appointed the person.

Division 5 — Enforcement

Compliance orders

- 38 (1) A safety officer may, in writing, issue to a person a compliance order under this section if
- (a) in the opinion of the safety officer there is a risk of personal injury or damage to property because
- (i) regulated work is being carried out in a manner that does not comply with this Act and the regulations, or a requirement, term or condition of an alternative safety approach, or
- (ii) a regulated product is being used or disposed of in a manner that does not comply with this Act and the regulations,
- (b) a person
- (i) fails to comply with a requirement of a safety officer or safety manager who is carrying out duties assigned under this Act, or
- (ii) obstructs, hinders, delays or fails to cooperate with or provide necessary assistance to a safety officer or safety manager who is carrying out duties assigned under this Act, or
- (c) a person fails to comply with this Act and regulations.
- (2) A compliance order under subsection (1) must
- (a) name the person to whom the order is addressed,
- (b) specify the action to be taken, stopped or modified,
- (c) state the reasons for the order,
- (d) state that the person may, in writing, request a review by a safety manager under section 49 or may appeal to the appeal board,
- (e) be dated the day the order is made, and
- (f) be served on the person to whom it is addressed.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (2) (b), a compliance order may specify any of the following requirements:

Page 26 of 46 18/12/2014

- (a) that regulated work be stopped, or that practices involving the regulated work be modified;
- (b) that a regulated product be stopped, closed down or disconnected from energy sources, or that practices involving the regulated product be modified;
- (c) that advertising, display or disposal of a regulated product be stopped;
- (d) that any other action by a person be taken, modified or stopped if necessary to prevent, avoid or reduce risk of personal injury or damage to property.
- (4) A safety officer may amend a compliance order and subsection (2) applies.
- (5) If satisfied that the circumstances that gave rise to a compliance order are no longer present, a safety officer may terminate the compliance order by providing the person to whom the order is addressed with written permission to resume the work or activity detailed in the order.
- (6) Regulated work or a regulated product that has been closed down, stopped, disconnected or turned off must not be started, reconnected or turned on again except
- (a) as provided for in the order, or
- (b) with written permission of a safety officer.

Court ordered compliance

- 39 (1) If a person refuses or fails to comply with a safety order under section 31 or a compliance order under section 38, a safety manager may apply to the Supreme Court for an order to direct compliance with the safety order or compliance order.
- (2) The court may order that the safety order or compliance order be complied with, on any conditions the court considers necessary, and the order takes precedence over any decision of a safety manager or the appeal board.

Monetary penalty

- **40** (1) A safety manager may, in accordance with the regulations, impose a monetary penalty on a person who fails to comply with any of the following:
- (a) a provision of this Act or a regulation, the contravention of which is stated in the regulations to make the person liable to a monetary penalty;
- (b) a compliance order;
- (c) a discipline order;
- (d) a safety order;
- (e) a term or condition of a licence, permit, certificate or variance;
- (f) a requirement, term or condition of an alternative safety approach.

Page 27 of 46 18/12/2014

- (2) A monetary penalty may be
- (a) a single amount, or
- (b) an amount for each day that the contravention continues.
- (3) If, in the opinion of the safety manager, a person who is the subject of a monetary penalty under subsection (2) (b) is taking reasonable measures to bring the regulated work or regulated product into compliance, the safety manager may, in writing, suspend the application of the daily penalty.
- (4) The total amount imposed on a person under this section for a contravention must not be greater than \$100 000.
- (5) If a monetary penalty is recommended by a safety officer, the safety officer must serve notice on the person who may be liable to the monetary penalty.
- (6) If a recommendation under subsection (5) is dismissed by a safety manager the safety manager must serve notice of the dismissal on the person named in the recommendation.
- (7) If a monetary penalty is imposed on a person by a safety manager under this section, the safety manager must serve notice on the person.
- (8) A notice under subsection (5) must state the following:
- (a) the name of the person liable to pay the monetary penalty;
- (b) the reasons for recommending the monetary penalty.
- (9) A notice under subsection (6) or (7) must state the following:
- (a) the name of the person liable to pay the monetary penalty;
- (b) if a monetary penalty is imposed,
- (i) the reasons for imposing the monetary penalty;
- (ii) the time at which the monetary penalty is to take effect;
- (iii) the amount of the proposed monetary penalty and whether it is imposed as a single amount or as an amount for each day the contravention continues;
- (iv) the date by which the monetary penalty is to be paid;
- (v) a statement that the person liable to pay the monetary penalty may appeal the imposition of the penalty to the appeal board.
- (10) A person subject to a monetary penalty under this section must pay the amount of the penalty
- (a) if it is imposed by a provincial safety manager, to the minister, or
- (b) if it is imposed by a local safety manager, to the local government.

Page 28 of 46 18/12/2014

- (11) If a monetary penalty is reduced or cancelled on appeal, the amount to be returned to the person must include interest at the rate set under the *Financial Administration Act*.
- (12) If a corporation is liable to pay a monetary penalty imposed under this section, every director, officer, or other person who authorizes, permits or acquiesces in the contravention is personally liable for the penalty.
- (13) A monetary penalty imposed under this section must be paid
- (a) within 30 days after the date on which the notice referred to in subsection (7) is served on the person or within a longer time specified by a safety manager, or
- (b) if there is an appeal respecting the monetary penalty, within 30 days after the amount of a monetary penalty is determined by the appeal board or within a longer time specified by the appeal board.

Enforcement of monetary penalties

- 41 (1) When the appeal period has expired or the appeal board has dismissed the appeal,
- (a) the monetary penalty constitutes a debt payable by the person on whom the penalty is imposed, and
- (b) a safety manager may enforce the monetary penalty by filing with the Supreme Court or Provincial Court a certified copy of the notice imposing the monetary penalty and on being filed all proceedings may be taken on it as if it were a judgment of that court.
- (2) If the appeal board varies a monetary penalty, subsection (1) applies to the monetary penalty as if the order of the appeal board were the notice referred to in subsection (1) (b).

Discipline orders

- 42 (1) A provincial safety manager may, in writing, on their own initiative or if requested by a safety officer or local safety manager, issue a discipline order to any person performing regulated work who
- (a) is in breach of a condition of, or restriction on, any licence or permission, whether stated in the licence or permission or stated in the regulations,
- (b) practises in a discipline under this Act for which the contractor is not licensed, or undertakes regulated work that the individual or contractor is not qualified to undertake,
- (c) fails to comply with a compliance order,
- (d) fails to comply with a safety order,
- (e) fails to comply with a requirement, term or condition of an alternative safety approach, or
- (f) is convicted of an offence under this Act.
- (2) A discipline order under subsection (1) must

Page 29 of 46 18/12/2014

- (a) name the person to whom the order is addressed,
- (b) state the sanction imposed by the order,
- (c) state the reasons for the order,
- (d) state that the person affected may appeal the order to the appeal board,
- (d.1) be dated the day the order is made,
- (e) be signed by the provincial safety manager, and
- (f) be served on the person named in the order.
- (3) A discipline order under subsection (1) may impose any sanction that the provincial safety manager considers necessary in the circumstances, including any of the following orders:
- (a) an order suspending or revoking the licence of a licensed contractor or revoking any permission granted to any person;
- (b) an order changing the terms or conditions of, or attaching additional terms or conditions to, the certificate of qualification of an individual or the licence of a licensed contractor;
- (c) an order requiring that any person performing regulated work act only under supervision or as directed in the order.
- (4) Despite subsection (3), a discipline order may allow a person whose permission to do regulated work has been suspended under this section to undertake regulated work in order to bring non-complying regulated work into compliance.

Part 8 — Safety Standards Appeal Board

Appeal board established

- 43 (1) The Safety Standards Appeal Board is established consisting of
- (a) a member appointed by the minister as the chair after a merit based process, and
- (b) members appointed by the minister after a merit based process and consultation with the chair.
- (2) The minister may designate one or more members of the board as vice chair after consultation with the chair.

Application of Administrative Tribunals Act

44 Sections 1 to 22, 24, 26 to 30, 31 (1) (a) to (e), (2) and (3), 32, 33, 34 (3) and (4), 35 to 42, 44, 46.3, 47 to 58, 60 and 61 of the *Administrative Tribunals Act* apply to the appeal board.

Impartiality of appeal board

Page 30 of 46 18/12/2014

45 Members of the appeal board must faithfully, honestly and impartially perform their duties and must not, except in the proper performance of those duties, disclose to any person any information obtained as members.

Repealed

46 [Repealed 2004-45-157.]

Repealed

47 [Repealed 2003-47-59.]

Repealed

48 [Repealed 2004-45-157.]

Part 9 — Review and Appeal Process

Division 1 — Request for Review

Review of safety officer's decision

- 49 (1) Within 30 days of the date of a safety officer's decision, a person who is served with written notice of the decision may, in writing, request a review by a safety manager of the safety officer's decision and must state the reason for the request.
- (2) A safety manager may allow any other person affected by a decision referred to in subsection (1) to request a review by the safety manager of the safety officer's decision.
- (3) A decision of a safety manager under subsection (2) refusing a request for a review is not appealable to the appeal board.
- (4) A request under subsection (1) or (2) must be made
- (a) if the decision was made by a safety officer appointed by a local government, to a local safety manager, or
- (b) if the decision was made by a safety officer appointed by the minister, to a provincial safety manager.
- (5) A safety manager who receives a request for review may refer the matter directly to the appeal board.
- (6) On the safety manager's own initiative within 30 days of the service of a safety officer's decision, a safety manager may review a decision of a safety officer that could be reviewed under subsection (1) by serving notice of the intention to do so on the safety officer and the person who has a right to request a review of the decision, and section 50 applies.

Page 31 of 46 18/12/2014

Safety manager's decision

- 50 (1) Unless the safety manager refers the matter to the appeal board under section 49 (5), a safety manager must, as soon as practicable after receiving a request under section 49 or initiating a review under section 49 (6), review the safety officer's decision.
- (2) The safety manager
- (a) must hear the submissions of the person who requests a review of a safety officer's decision,
- (b) may review the matter on the basis of documents only, or may make any investigation of the matter that the safety manager considers necessary,
- (c) may, by written order with reasons, confirm, vary or reverse the safety officer's decision, substitute a decision or refer the matter back to the safety officer with or without directions,
- (d) must serve notice of the order on the person who makes a request under section 49, and
- (e) must provide a copy of the order to the safety officer.
- (3) The notice under subsection (2) (d) must state the reasons for the safety manager's decision and that the person who requested the review has the right to appeal the decision to the appeal board.

Division 2 — Appeals to the Safety Standards Appeal Board

Right to appeal

- **51** (1) [Repealed 2004-45-157.]
- (2) If a safety manager makes a decision that could otherwise have been made by a safety officer, a person who would have a right to a review under section 49 has instead a right to appeal the decision to the appeal board.
- (3) [Repealed 2004-45-157.]
- (4) The appeal board must decide
- (a) who is a party to the appeal.
- (b) [Repealed 2004-45-158.]
- (5) The appeal board must serve notice of the date, time and place of the hearing to the parties to the appeal, any intervenors and any other person it considers to be sufficiently interested in the appeal.

Jurisdiction of the appeal board

52 (1) When hearing appeals the appeal board must consider the maintenance and enhancement of public safety.

Page 32 of 46 18/12/2014

(2) Unless an appeal is withdrawn, the parties otherwise agree, or the appeal is resolved in another way, the appeal board must hear an appeal as soon as practicable after receiving the appeal.

Nature of appeal

53 An appeal is a new hearing unless the appeal board otherwise recommends and the parties to the appeal agree.

Appeal does not operate as a stay unless appeal board otherwise orders

- 54 (1) The commencement of an appeal does not operate as a stay or suspend the operation of the decision being appealed unless the appeal board orders otherwise.
- (2) On application, the appeal board, a panel or a member of the board may order that the decision being appealed is stayed for a period of time or subject to conditions, or both.
- (3) Subsection (2) does not apply if an application under section 39 to the Supreme Court to enforce an order for compliance has been made in respect of the decision under appeal.

Repealed

55-58 [Repealed 2004-45-159.]

Appeal board's hearing

59 The appeal board must decide the matter by confirming, varying or reversing the decision or by dismissing the appeal.

Decision of appeal board is final

- 60 (1) The appeal board has exclusive jurisdiction to inquire into, hear and determine all those matters and questions of fact, law and discretion arising or required to be determined in an appeal under this Act and to make any order permitted to be made.
- (2) A decision or order of the appeal board on a matter in respect of which the appeal board has exclusive jurisdiction is final and conclusive and is not open to question or review in any court.

Repealed

61 [Repealed 2004-45-159.]

Enforcement of appeal board orders

62 A certified copy of an order of the appeal board may be filed in the Supreme Court by a safety manager or the applicant and on being filed all proceedings may be taken on it, as if it were an order of the Supreme Court.

Page 33 of 46 18/12/2014

Part 10 — Prohibitions, Offences and Penalties

Division 1 — Prohibitions

General prohibitions

- 63 A person must not do any of the following:
- (a) assemble, manufacture, construct, test, install, operate, use, dispose of, maintain, repair or alter a regulated product contrary to this Act and the regulations;
- (b) if the regulations require a person to obtain a permit, certificate or other permission before starting regulated work, do, or continue to do, the regulated work without the required permit, certificate or permission;
- (c) if the regulations require a person to obtain a permit, certificate or other permission before using or operating a regulated product, use or operate, or continue to use or operate, the regulated product without the required permit, certificate or permission;
- (d) contravene a term or condition of a permit, a certificate or other permission or a licence;
- (e) contravene a requirement, term or condition of an alternative safety approach.

Assembly, construction or installation of regulated products

- 64 A person must not assemble, construct or install a regulated product unless that person is
- (a) a licensed contractor, or
- (b) authorized to do so under this Act.

Testing of regulated products

- 65 A person must not test a regulated product unless that person is
- (a) a licensed contractor,
- (b) acting under the authority of a certification agency,
- (c) a safety officer or safety manager, or a person authorized by a safety officer or safety manager, or
- (d) authorized to do so under this Act.

Maintenance and repair of regulated products

- 66 A person must not maintain or repair a regulated product unless that person is
- (a) a licensed contractor, or
- (b) authorized to do so under this Act.

Page 34 of 46 18/12/2014

Additions to a regulated product

- 67 A person must not assemble, construct or install an addition to, or add anything to, a regulated product unless that person is
- (a) a licensed contractor, or
- (b) authorized to do so under this Act.

Alteration of regulated products

- 68 (1) A person must not alter a regulated product if the alteration would or is likely to
- (a) result in the product ceasing to meet the requirements of the regulations, or
- (b) result in the product ceasing to meet the standards
- (i) required to be met by the certification agency, or any successor of that agency, that authorized the use of a certification mark for the regulated product, or
- (ii) applied to that regulated product by a provincial safety manager in issuing an approval under section 10.
- (2) If an alteration to a regulated product is permitted under subsection (1), a person must not do the alteration unless that person is
- (a) a licensed contractor,
- (b) authorized to do so under this Act, or
- (c) approved by the appropriate safety manager if the safety manager is satisfied that the person is capable of safely doing the alteration.

Operation and use of regulated products

- 69 (1) If required by the regulations, a person must not operate a regulated product unless that person is
- (a) a licensed contractor,
- (b) authorized to do so under this Act, or
- (c) any other person approved by the appropriate safety manager if the safety manager is satisfied that the person is capable of safely operating the regulated product.
- (2) A person must not use or possess a regulated product unless
- (a) it bears a certification mark,

Page 35 of 46 18/12/2014

- (b) the regulations provide for notice of the certification to be posted on the premises where the regulated product is found and the notice of the certification is posted, or
- (c) it is exempted by regulation for the purposes of this section.
- (3) A person must not use a regulated product in a manner that is unsafe or that creates a risk of personal injury or damage to property.

Disposal of regulated products

- 70 (1) A person must not display, have available for disposal, advertise for disposal or dispose of a regulated product unless it bears a certification mark.
- (2) A person must not display, have available for disposal, advertise for disposal or dispose of a regulated product knowing that, if the product were used or operated normally, it would or could be unsafe, or create a risk of personal injury or damage to property.
- (3) Subsection (2) applies even if the regulated product bears a certification mark.
- (4) If required by the regulations, a record of every regulated product that is disposed of must be kept in accordance with the regulations.

Regulated work

- 71 A person must not do regulated work unless the person is
- (a) a licensed contractor, or
- (b) authorized to do so under this Act.

Division 2 — Offences

Offences

- 72 (1) A person who does any of the following commits an offence:
- (a) contravenes, or fails to comply with, section 19 (4), 23 (1) or 36 (2) or any of sections 63 to 71;
- (b) obstructs a safety officer or safety manager in the exercise of their powers or the performance of their duties;
- (c) contravenes, or fails to comply with, a compliance order, a safety order or discipline order;
- (d) contravenes, or fails to comply with, an order of the appeal board;
- (e) contravenes, or fails to comply with, any provision of the regulations, the contravention of which is stated in the regulations or in this Act to be an offence;
- (f) knowingly furnishes false information in

Page 36 of 46 18/12/2014

- (i) any application under this Act,
- (ii) any statement or return required to be furnished under this Act, or
- (iii) any proposal for an alternative safety approach under this Act.
- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1) (b), a person obstructs a safety officer or safety manager if the person does any of the following:
- (a) intentionally hinders or delays the safety officer or safety manager;
- (b) fails to comply, as soon as practicable, with any valid request or requirement of the safety officer or safety manager;
- (c) fails to attend, without reasonable excuse, at a place and time specified by the safety officer or safety manager under section 18 (1) (j);
- (d) gives false or misleading information to a safety officer or a safety manager;
- (e) fails to answer, without reasonable excuse, an oral or written question that the person is able to answer;
- (f) fails to produce for inspection a record required to be produced by the safety officer or safety manager.

Creating unsafe conditions and condoning prohibited activities

- 73 (1) A person commits an offence who engages in any activity, practice or conduct that creates or may create an unsafe regulated product or causes or may cause unsafe regulated work.
- (2) A person commits an offence who requires, authorizes, allows, counsels, condones or acquiesces in any of the following:
- (a) any activity, practice or conduct that is an offence under this Act;
- (b) any activity, practice or conduct that creates or may create an unsafe regulated product or causes or may cause unsafe regulated work;
- (c) an individual or licensed contractor doing regulated work for which the individual is not appropriately qualified or the contractor is not licensed.

Tampering with certification or product approval mark

- 74 (1) A person commits an offence who removes, interferes with, changes, defaces or tampers with a certification mark or a product approval mark under section 9 or 10 (2) without approval.
- (2) In this section, "approval" means the approval of an appropriate certification agency, a successor of that agency or a safety manager, as the case may be, that authorized the use of a certification or approval mark for a regulated product.

Page 37 of 46 18/12/2014

Offences by corporations

- 75 (1) If a corporation commits an offence under this Act, an employee, officer, director or agent of the corporation who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the offence also commits that offence, whether or not the corporation is prosecuted or convicted.
- (2) In a prosecution for an offence under or arising out of sections 72 to 74, it is sufficient proof of the offence to establish that it was committed by an employee, officer, director or agent of the defendant.
- (3) Subsection (2) applies whether or not the employee, officer, director or agent is identified or has been prosecuted for the offence, but that subsection does not apply if the defendant establishes that
- (a) the offence was committed without the defendant's knowledge or consent, or
- (b) the defendant exercised due diligence to prevent commission of the offence.

Offence Act

76 Section 5 of the Offence Act does not apply to this Act or to the regulations.

Limitation period for starting proceedings

77 A prosecution of an offence under this Act may not be commenced more than one year after the facts on which the proceeding is based first come to the knowledge of a safety officer or safety manager.

Division 3 — Penalties

Penalty

- 78 (1) An individual who is convicted of an offence under this Act is liable to a fine of not more than \$100 000 or to imprisonment for not more than 18 months, or to both.
- (2) A corporation that is convicted of an offence under this Act is liable to a fine of not more than \$200 000.
- (3) In the case of a continuing offence, an individual who commits the offence is liable to a further penalty of not more than \$5 000 for each day during which the offence continues.
- (4) In the case of a continuing offence, a corporation that commits the offence is liable to a further penalty of not more than \$10 000 for each day during which the offence continues.

Remedial orders

79 In addition to any fine imposed on a person, the court may order that the person take or cease taking any action as the court directs and may make any remedial or other order that the court considers appropriate.

Part 11 — General

Page 38 of 46 18/12/2014

How to serve documents and notices

- 80 (1) If this Act or the regulations require or authorize an order, notice, decision or other document to be given or served, it may be served in the following manner:
- (a) on a licensed contractor or other individual whose address is recorded in the registry, by ordinary mail or by delivery to that address;
- (b) on a person whose address is not recorded in the registry, by ordinary mail or by delivery to an address for service provided by the person for that purpose or to an address obtained under section 19.2;
- (c) personally, by leaving it with the individual to whom it is addressed;
- (d) if the person to be served is a corporation, by leaving the document at, or mailing it by registered mail to, the registered office of the corporation or by personally serving a director or officer of the corporation;
- (e) by registered mail addressed to the person to be served;
- (f) by any other method specified by the court under subsection (3).
- (2) If a decision or other document is served
- (a) under subsection (1) (a) or (b) by leaving it at the address for service, the document is deemed to have been received 3 days after it was delivered to that address,
- (b) under subsection (1) (d) by leaving it at the registered office of the corporation, the corporation is deemed to have received the document 3 days after it was left at the registered office, and
- (c) by ordinary mail or registered mail, the person to whom it is addressed is deemed to have received the document on the 14th day after deposit of the mail in the Canada Post Office at any place in Canada.
- (3) On application by any person, the Supreme Court may, for the purposes of this Act,
- (a) give directions on how to give notice to, or serve a document on, a person, or
- (b) dispense with service of the document if the court is satisfied that the person already has actual notice of the contents of the document and is avoiding service.
- (4) If the court makes an order dispensing with service of the document, the document takes effect without being served.

Advisory bodies

- 81 (1) The minister may establish, by order, one or more advisory bodies.
- (2) An advisory body's duties include providing advice to the minister on safety, safety standards, qualification and licensing, enforcement and other matters specified by the minister.

Page 39 of 46 18/12/2014

- (3) For each advisory body, the minister may do one or more of the following:
- (a) appoint members;
- (b) designate a chair of the advisory body.
- (4) The minister must reimburse members for reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out their duties.

Part 12 — Delegation of Administration

Definitions for this Part

82 In this Part:

"administrative agreement" means an agreement under section 83;

"authority" means a person to which administration is delegated or is to be delegated in a regulation under section 84.

Administrative agreement with an authority required

- 83 (1) The minister may enter into an administrative agreement with an authority to administer provisions of this Act and the regulations.
- (2) An administrative agreement must include provisions that specify all of the following:
- (a) the expected safety outcomes to be achieved by the authority in its administration of this Act and the regulations;
- (b) the performance objectives of the authority;
- (c) the acceptance by the authority of the responsibility to administer powers delegated to the authority under section 84 (1);
- (d) the terms for financial arrangements between the authority and the government including the collection and payment of fees due to the authority or the government and any other financial transitional matters;
- (e) the right of access of the authority to records created by the government and the right of access of the government to records created by the authority;
- (f) the requirements for records management by the authority;
- (g) the requirements that the authority report to the government any matters in respect of the operation of powers administered by the authority under this Act;
- (h) a requirement that the authority carry adequate insurance;
- (i) provisions for indemnification between the authority and the government;

Page 40 of 46 18/12/2014

- (j) the obligations of the parties if the agreement is terminated;
- (k) the time period of the agreement or the procedure for the review of the agreement by the authority and the government;
- (1) that the authority establish and implement an administrative code of fair conduct;
- (m) provisions for the settlement of disputes;
- (n) a specification of the liability of the authority arising out of the authority carrying out its administration of this Act and the regulations.

Power to delegate administration of Act to an authority

- 84 (1) If the minister enters into an administrative agreement with an authority, the Lieutenant Governor in Council may, by regulation, delegate to that authority the administration of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations except a power to make regulations.
- (2) If an amendment to the delegation regulation could substantively affect an administrative agreement, the minister must give reasonable notice to the authority of the proposed amendment and must consult on it with the authority.
- (3) If the Lieutenant Governor in Council repeals a regulation under subsection (1), the administrative agreement is terminated.

Delegation does not make an authority an agent of the government

85 An authority to which the administration of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations are delegated under section 84 is not an agent of the government for the purpose of that administration.

Power of an authority to set fees for matters under its administration

- 86 (1) Despite any power of the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the minister to prescribe fees for matters under the administration of the government, an authority may set fees in accordance with a fee setting process established by the authority for any matter required under the authority's administration.
- (2) The fee setting process established under subsection (1) must be in accordance with criteria that are established by the minister by regulation.

Power to order an audit

87 The Lieutenant Governor in Council may direct a person to conduct an audit of the authority to which administration is delegated under section 84.

Part 13 — Regulation-making Authority

Page 41 of 46 18/12/2014

Minister's power to make regulations

- 88 (1) The minister may make regulations referred to in section 41 of the *Interpretation Act*.
- (2) Without limiting subsection (1), the minister may make regulations as follows:
- (a) defining any term or word used but not defined in this Act;
- (b) exempting, completely or partially and with or without conditions, from the application of any or all provisions of this Act and the regulations any of the following:
- (i) a person or class of persons;
- (ii) any regulated product;
- (iii) any regulated work or class of regulated work;
- (iv) anything referred to in this subsection that is in a specified geographic area;
- (c) for the purposes of section 6 (2);
- (d) respecting or requiring insurance or a bond for any purpose under this Act and providing for the approval by safety managers of the adequacy of insurance coverage;
- (e) respecting the submission or production of documents, the records to be made and maintained for the purposes of this Act and the issue of duplicate copies of any document issued under this Act;
- (f) providing for the suspension, revocation or cancellation of a document issued inadvertently or by mistake and requiring the return of a document;
- (g) prescribing fees in respect of matters administered by the government;
- (h) establishing criteria for setting fees for the purposes of section 86;
- (i) respecting the qualifications, certificates of qualification, licensing, training, examination and duties of persons, and any reporting requirements under this Act, including, but not limited to, safety officers, licensed contractors, approved inspecting contractors, manufacturer's technical representatives and field safety representatives;
- (j) requiring a permit, certificate or other permission in respect of regulated work or regulated products, providing for the issue of licences, permits, certificates, other permissions and other documents required under this Act and respecting terms and conditions of a licence, permit, certificate or other permission;
- (k) respecting classes of licences, permits, certificates and other permissions;
- (l) respecting the issue, reissue, return, renewal, revocation and suspension of, or expiry date for, any permit, certificate or other permission or a licence under this Act;
- (m) [Repealed 2010-21-171.]

- (n) recognizing a person or class of persons as a certification agency;
- (o) requiring the posting or display of any identification label, document, notice or other communication for the purposes of this Act;
- (p) respecting the registration of
- (i) regulated products,
- (ii) designs of regulated products, and
- (iii) procedures used in respect of regulated products;
- (q) regulating the odorization of gas;
- (r) prohibiting, regulating and controlling regulated work and regulated products, the acquisition, disposal, alteration, repair, installation, maintenance, testing, and use of regulated products and respecting permission for, or notification of, the use of regulated products or the performance of regulated work;
- (s) establishing codes or standards respecting regulated work and regulated products or adopting by reference all or part of a code or standard;
- (t) governing the conduct and obligations of persons in the vicinity of regulated work or regulated products, and requiring a person to notify or obtain permission from a person in authority in respect of an intended activity in the vicinity of regulated work or regulated products and requiring the person in authority to perform duties necessary for the safe conduct of the intended activity;
- (u) for the purposes of section 17 (2),
- (i) assigning additional powers to a safety manager, and
- (ii) providing that, in respect of additional powers relating to alternative safety approaches, provincial safety managers only, or all safety managers, may exercise those powers;
- (v) assigning additional powers to a safety officer for the purposes of section 18 (1);
- (w) defining a thing to be a regulated product;
- (x) prescribing one or more ranges of levels of electricity consumption for the purposes of the definition of "residential electricity information" in section 19.1.
- (3) Without limiting subsection (1), the minister may make regulations respecting alternative safety approaches, including the following:
- (a) respecting regulated work or regulated products that may be the subject of an alternative safety approach;
- (b) respecting the submission, amendment or renewal of an alternative safety approach, including
- (i) making requirements in relation to content, and

Page 43 of 46 18/12/2014

- (ii) requiring, at a proponent's expense, persons not associated with the proponent to perform duties in respect of the submission, amendment or renewal;
- (c) respecting criteria to be considered in determining whether to accept a proposed alternative safety approach;
- (d) for the purposes of paragraph (c), conferring a power on a provincial safety manager to establish
- (i) categories of alternative safety approaches based on hazards that present a risk of personal injury or damage to property, and
- (ii) for each category established under subparagraph (i), requirements that must be included in alternative safety approaches that fall within that category;
- (e) respecting premises, equipment, staff, record keeping and production, monitoring, analysis and reporting, including
- (i) designating persons, by title or otherwise, who are responsible for communicating with safety officers and ensuring compliance with the requirements, terms and conditions of an alternative safety approach, and
- (ii) requiring, at a proponent's expense, persons who are not associated with the proponent to perform duties in respect of an alternative safety approach;
- (f) respecting criteria to be considered in determining whether to suspend or cancel a proposed alternative safety approach;
- (g) respecting procedures that must be followed before
- (i) terms and conditions of an alternative safety approach may be varied or new terms and conditions imposed,
- (ii) a safety manager may require an alternative safety approach to be amended, or
- (iii) an alternative safety approach may be suspended or cancelled;
- (h) making different regulations for different classes of regulated work, regulated products, hazards or alternative safety approaches.

Lieutenant Governor in Council power to make regulations

- 89 The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations as follows:
- (a) specifying a thing to be a regulated product for the purposes of section 2 (1) (b) (x);
- (b) delegating to a local government the administration of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations except a power to make regulations;
- (c) delegating to an authority the administration of any of the provisions of this Act and the regulations except a power to make regulations;

Page 44 of 46 18/12/2014

- (d) [Repealed 2004-45-160.]
- (e) [Repealed 2003-47-60.]
- (f) providing, for a regulation made under this Act, that its contravention constitutes an offence and is subject to the penalties specified in section 78;
- (g) respecting the imposition of and notice of monetary penalties, the criteria for determining appropriate monetary penalties, setting different limits on the monetary penalties that may be imposed and specifying those regulations for which a contravention makes a person liable to a monetary penalty;
- (h) providing for increased monetary penalties for repeated contraventions and specifying the time within which a contravention is to be considered a repeat contravention of an earlier contravention.

Part 14 — Transitional Provisions

Transitional

- 90 (1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations considered necessary or advisable for the purpose of more effectively bringing into operation the provisions of this Act and to prevent, minimize, address or resolve any transitional difficulties encountered in doing so, including but not limited to providing for the transition from
- (a) the Acts repealed by this Act,
- (b) the regulations made under the Acts repealed by this Act, or
- (c) the provisions of the <u>Railway Act</u> that are amended or repealed by this Act and regulations under that Act.
- (2) For the purposes of transition, the Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations allowing a local government to temporarily continue its administration of gas systems and equipment or electrical equipment until it enters into an agreement under section 5.
- (3) Despite section 85 and for the purposes of collecting fees on behalf of the government, the authority to which administration is delegated under section 84 is an agent of the government.
- (4) A regulation under this section may be made retroactive to a date not earlier than the date on which this section comes into force.

Repealed

91 [Repealed 2003-39-91.]

Part 15 — Transitional Appropriation

Appropriation for allocation of long term fees to British Columbia Safety Authority

Page 45 of 46 18/12/2014

- 91.1 (1) In this section, "long term fees" means that portion of any fees that are collected by the government in respect of licences, permits or other permissions under any of the <u>Electrical Safety Act</u>, the <u>Elevating Devices Safety Act</u>, the <u>Gas Safety Act</u> or the <u>Power Engineers and Boiler and Pressure</u> <u>Vessel Safety Act</u> during the fiscal year of the government beginning April 1, 2003 and that relate to a licence period, permit period or other period that extends beyond that fiscal year.
- (2) Despite the <u>Financial Administration Act</u>, revenue collected by the government as long term fees must be considered to have been collected by the government as agent for the authority under the <u>Safety Authority Act</u> and must be paid into the consolidated revenue fund.
- (3) Despite the <u>Financial Administration Act</u>, money paid into the consolidated revenue fund under subsection (2) must be paid by the government out of the consolidated revenue fund to the authority under the <u>Safety Authority Act</u> without an appropriation other than this section.
- (4) This Part is repealed on a date to be set by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Consequential Amendments

[Note: See Table of Legislative Changes for the status of sections 92 to 102.]

Section(s)	Affected Act
92	Engineers and Geoscientists Act
93	Hydro and Power Authority Act
94	<u>Pipeline Act</u>
9597	Railway Act
98–101	Vancouver Charter
Repeals	
Section(s)	Affected Act
102	Electrical Safety Act
	Elevating Devices Safety Act
	Gas Safety Act
	Power Engineers and Boiler Pressure Vessel Safety Act

Commencement

103 This Act, except section 6 and Part 14, comes into force by regulation of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Page 46 of 46 18/12/2014

APPENDIX +BY

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada B.C. Reg. 105/2004 M63/2004 License
Disclaimer

Deposited March 23, 2004
effective April 1, 2004

Safety Standards Act

Safety Standards General Regulation

Note: Check the Cumulative Regulation Bulletin 2014 for any non-consolidated amendments to this regulation that may be in effect.

[includes amendments up to B.C. Reg. 134/2009, April 1, 2009]

Contents

1 Definitions

Part 1 — Certificates of Qualification and Contractors' Licences

Division 1 — Certificates of Qualification

- 2 Requirements for certificate of qualification
- 2.1 Applicants with credentials from elsewhere in Canada
- 3 Re-examination after failure to pass an examination
- 4 No regulated work beyond scope of individual's qualifications
- 5 Regulated work done under supervision

Division 2 — Contractor's Licence

- 6 Requirements for contractor's licence
- 7 Licence restricted to scope of field safety representative's qualifications
- 8 Issue of contractor's licence for up to 5 year period
- 9 Reporting obligations under contractor's licence
- 10 Bonding
- 11 Surety may be required to rectify non-compliance

Part 2 — Permits

- 12 Permit required unless exempted or in an emergency
- 13 Permit application procedure
- 14 Amendment of permit for additional or other work at site
- 15 Types of permits
- 16 Limit on scope of regulated work under permit
- 17 Installation permits
- 18 Operating permits
- 19 Responsibilities of operating permit holder

19.1 Regulated work under a permit

Part 3 — Inspections by Safety Officers

- 20 Certificate of inspection
- 21 Cost of inspection not already charged for in permit fee

Part 4 — Prototypes

22 Notification and testing of prototype

Part 5 — Field Safety Representatives

- 23 Field safety representative
- 24 Restrictions on field safety representatives
- 25 Continuing education requirements for field safety representatives
- 26 Duties of a field safety representative

Part 6 — Safety Officers

- 27 Safety officer must hold appropriate certificate of qualification
- 28 Safety officer certificate of qualification
- 29 Temporary safety officer's certificates of qualification
- 30 Expiry of safety officer's certificates of qualification

Part 7 — Documents

- 31 Permission not transferable
- 32 Documents issued by mistake
- 33 Issue of duplicate certificate, licence, permit or other document

Part 8 — Incident Reporting

34 Duty to report incidents to the appropriate safety manager

Definitions

- 1 In this regulation:
- "Act" means the Safety Standards Act;
- "declaration" means a statement made in writing by an individual that a regulated product has been installed or regulated work has been performed in compliance with the Act;
- "documentation" includes permits, certificates, licences, reports and records;
- "field safety representative" means an individual who holds a certificate of qualification issued under section 23;

"homeowner"

- (a) in respect of electrical equipment has the meaning in the Electrical Safety Regulation, and
- (b) in respect of gas equipment has the meaning in the Gas Safety Regulation;

- "installation permit" means a permit issued under section 17;
- "permit" includes all types of permits issued under the Act;
- "prototype" means a regulated product that is under development and has not been approved for use;
- "regulatory authority" means the ministry or local government that provides an inspection service under the Act and has the authority to require inspection of regulated work in an area of British Columbia.

Part 1 — Certificates of Qualification and Contractors' Licences

Division 1 — Certificates of Qualification

Requirements for certificate of qualification

- 2 An applicant for a certificate of qualification must pay any required fees and, subject to the regulations respecting the particular discipline,
- (a) provide proof, acceptable to a provincial safety manager, of the applicant's relevant training and work experience, and
- (b) pass any required examination for that certificate.

Applicants with credentials from elsewhere in Canada

- 2.1 (1) In this section,
- "credential" means an official recognition, issued in another jurisdiction in Canada, authorizing the holder of the credential to perform in the other jurisdiction work that is equivalent to regulated work that under the Act may be performed only by a holder of a certificate of qualification;
- "safety regulation" means the Electrical Safety Regulation, Elevating Devices Safety Regulation, Gas Safety Regulation, and Power Engineers, Boiler, Pressure Vessel and Refrigeration Safety Regulation.
- (2) Despite any provision of a safety regulation, a person who holds a credential may apply for a corresponding certificate of qualification if a provincial safety manager is satisfied that the credential is in good standing in the jurisdiction where it was issued.
- (3) A provincial safety manager may set terms and conditions on a certificate of qualification issued to a person referred to in subsection (2) if the provincial safety manager is satisfied that the terms and conditions are necessary to ensure that the regulated work the person is entitled to perform in British Columbia is equivalent to the work the person is entitled to perform in the jurisdiction where the person's credential was issued.
- (4) Terms and conditions set under subsection (3) apply despite any provision of a safety regulation.

[en. B.C. Reg. 134/2009, s. 1.]

Page 3 of 12 18/12/2014

Re-examination after failure to pass an examination

- 3 (1) If an individual, on their initial attempt, fails to pass any required examination for a certificate of qualification, the individual may not take the examination again until 30 days after the previous examination.
- (2) If an individual fails to pass an examination for a certificate of qualification on the second or any subsequent attempt, a provincial safety manager may stipulate terms or conditions in respect of the length of time that must elapse before the individual may take the examination again.

No regulated work beyond scope of individual's qualifications

4 An individual must not perform regulated work unless it is within the scope of the individual's certificate of qualification or other training credential recognized by a provincial safety manager.

Regulated work done under supervision

- 5 (1) Despite section 4, an individual may do regulated work for which specific qualifications would be required under the Act if the individual is supervised by a person who
- (a) is specifically authorized under the Act to perform that type of work, and
- (b) supervises the individual on site and provides guidance and assistance to the individual as the regulated work is performed.
- (2) A person who supervises the work of an individual under subsection (1) must not do any of the following:
- (a) allow that individual to perform regulated work outside of the scope of the supervisor's qualifications;
- (b) supervise a number of individuals in excess of any ratios of supervision established under the regulations.

Division 2 — Contractor's Licence

Requirements for contractor's licence

- 6 An applicant for a contractor's licence must provide all of the following:
- (a) unless exempted by the regulations for a specific discipline, the name, certificate of qualification number and class of certificate of qualification of a field safety representative;
- (b) evidence of the bond required by the provincial safety manager unless exempted by the regulations;
- (c) the required fee.

Page 4 of 12 18/12/2014

Licence restricted to scope of field safety representative's qualifications

- 7 (1) A licensed contractor must not do regulated work beyond the qualifications of the contractor's field safety representative named on a licence issued under section 6.
- (2) Except under section 5 (1), a licensed contractor must not allow an individual to perform regulated work for which the contractor is responsible unless the individual is qualified to perform the regulated work.

Issue of contractor's licence for up to 5 year period

8 A contractor's licence may be issued for a period of up to 5 years.

Reporting obligations under contractor's licence

- 9 (1) A licensed contractor must immediately notify a provincial safety manager
- (a) when the field safety representative named on the contractor's licence under section 6 ceases to be employed by the licensed contractor, and
- (b) when another individual is employed by the licensed contractor to replace the field safety representative named on the contractor's licence.
- (2) A notice under subsection (1) (b) must include the name and certificate of qualification number of the individual.

Bonding

- 10 (1) A bond as required under section 6 (b) may be provided only by a bond of a surety authorized under the *Insurance Act*.
- (2) A licensed contractor must report to a provincial safety manager any changes in the status of any bond required under section 6 (b) including, but not limited to, renewals.
- (3) A bond provided for the purposes of section 6 (b) must contain a provision requiring the insurer to inform a provincial safety manager of any change of status to that bond.
- (4) The licence of a contractor who holds a bond under section 6 (b) is suspended if the bond lapses.
- (5) A suspension under subsection (4) is reversed only if the licensed contractor provides evidence, acceptable to a provincial safety manager, that the bond has been reinstated.

Surety may be required to rectify non-compliance

11 If a licensed contractor, in the opinion of a provincial safety manager, has failed to comply with the Act, and neglects or refuses to rectify the non-compliance, a provincial safety manager may require the surety to cause work to be done to rectify the non-compliance up to the maximum amount of the bond.

Page 5 of 12 18/12/2014

Part 2 — Permits

Permit required unless exempted or in an emergency

- 12 (1) A person must obtain the appropriate permit from the regulatory authority before performing regulated work or using a regulated product unless exempted from doing so under the Act.
- (2) In an emergency or if required to perform regulated work when the permit issuing office is closed, a person is not required to obtain a permit before performing regulated work if the person
- (a) is authorized under the Act to perform the regulated work, and
- (b) applies for a permit from the regulatory authority on the first business day following the emergency or the next day that the permit issuing office is open.

Permit application procedure

- 13 An application for a permit must be accompanied by any required fee and must include the following:
- (a) a description of the regulated work to be performed;
- (b) the address of the place where the regulated work is to be performed;
- (c) the name and address of the person for whom the regulated work under the permit is to be performed;
- (d) if the regulated work is to be performed by a licensed contractor, the licensed contractor's name, address and registration number;
- (e) if the regulated work is to be performed by a homeowner, the name of each person who will be assisting with the regulated work other than members of the homeowner's immediate family.

Amendment of permit for additional or other work at site

14 On payment of any required fee, a safety officer may amend a permit to allow additional regulated work to be performed under the permit.

Types of permits

- 15 A safety officer may issue the following types of permit under the Act:
- (a) installation permits;
- (b) operating permits.

Limit on scope of regulated work under permit

16 A permit holder must not perform regulated work beyond the qualifications of the permit holder's field safety representative named on a permit issued under this Part.

Installation permits

- 17 (1) An installation permit is required to install or alter a regulated product.
- (2) An installation permit may be issued to any of the following:
- (a) a licensed contractor;
- (b) a person who holds an operating permit;
- (c) an owner of a regulated product;
- (d) a homeowner who performs regulated work as permitted under the regulations.
- (3) Unless exempted by the regulations, an application for an installation permit must contain the name, certificate of qualification number and class of certificate of qualification of the field safety representative.
- (4) To issue an installation permit a safety officer may require a bond.

Operating permits

- 18 (1) A person must have an operating permit to do any of the following:
- (a) operate a regulated product;
- (b) maintain a regulated product.
- (2) An operating permit may be issued to any of the following:
- (a) an owner of a regulated product;
- (b) the owner of a building or other premises where regulated work is to be performed.
- (3) An operating permit may be issued for the use of one or more regulated products listed in section 2 (1) (b) of the Act.
- (4) Unless specified in the regulations, an application for an operating permit is not required to contain the name, certificate of qualification number and class of certificate of qualification of the field safety representative.
- (5) To issue an operating permit a safety officer may require a bond.

Responsibilities of operating permit holder

19 The holder of an operating permit must do all of the following:

Page 7 of 12 18/12/2014

- (a) if required under the permit, maintain a log of work performed under the permit;
- (b) in the case of a multi-year operating permit, pay any required installments of the permit fee;
- (c) submit any required declaration confirming compliance with the Act;
- (d) if a field safety representative is named in the permit, immediately notify the regulatory authority if the field safety representative ceases to be contracted or employed by the permit holder.

Regulated work under a permit

- 19.1 (1) This section applies to a person who holds a permit, other than a homeowner.
- (2) For the purposes of section 23 (1) (a) of the Act, a person who holds a permit is authorized to manage or direct individuals doing regulated work under the permit.
- (3) For the purposes of section 23 (1) (b) of the Act, a person who is authorized under the Act to do regulated work may do the regulated work for a person who holds a permit.

[en. B.C. Reg. 474/2004.]

Part 3 — Inspections by Safety Officers

Certificate of inspection

- 20 (1) This section applies to an inspection performed by a safety officer.
- (2) On completion of an inspection by a safety officer of regulated work or a regulated product, the safety officer must issue a certificate of inspection to the permit holder.
- (3) If the certificate under subsection (2) identifies any non-compliances with respect to the regulated work or regulated product, the permit holder must correct the non-compliances and notify the safety officer that the corrections have been completed.
- (4) Issuance of a certificate of inspection does not prevent a safety officer from re-inspecting regulated work.

Cost of inspection not already charged for in permit fee

21 If a safety officer performs an inspection for which a fee has not already been charged as part of the permit fee, the permit holder must pay a separate fee.

Part 4 — Prototypes

Notification and testing of prototype

22 (1) A person who develops or possesses a prototype must not use the product except for product demonstration or product testing.

- (2) A person must not use a prototype in a manner that may cause harm to any person or damage to property.
- (3) On application by a person who develops or possesses a prototype, a provincial safety manager may provide an approval under section 10 (2) of the Act.
- (4) A person must not use a regulated product approved under subsection (3) unless the person obtains any required permit for the use of the regulated product.

Part 5 — Field Safety Representatives

Field safety representative

- 23 (1) An individual may obtain a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative for the particular qualifications set out in the certificate if the individual
- (a) has training or experience that is recognized by the provincial safety manager,
- (b) is a professional engineer in good standing with the association under the <u>Engineers and</u> Geoscientists Act, or
- (c) is a technologist in good standing with the association under the <u>Applied Science Technologists</u> and Technicians Act.
- (2) In addition to the requirements under subsection (1), a provincial safety manager may require the individual to take an appropriate examination or complete any additional training.

Restrictions on field safety representatives

- 24 (1) A certificate of qualification as a field safety representative entitles the individual, on behalf of their employer, to make declarations that regulated work complies with the Act and regulations.
- (2) A field safety representative must not make a declaration about regulated work other than regulated work within the scope of field safety representative's class of certificate of qualification.
- (3) Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 217/2006.]

[am. B.C. Reg. 217/2006.]

Continuing education requirements for field safety representatives

- 25 (1) A provincial safety manager may require a field safety representative to demonstrate up to date knowledge relevant to that individual's class of certificate of qualification.
- (2) For the purposes of subsection (1), a provincial safety manager may require an individual to do one or both of the following:
- (a) attend courses of instruction;
- (b) successfully complete an examination.

Duties of a field safety representative

- 26 (1) An individual who holds a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative must do all of the following in respect of regulated work performed under a permit:
- (a) ensure that the regulated work complies with all requirements under the Act;
- (b) request any inspections required under the Act or on the permit from the regulatory authority;
- (c) if permitted to do so by the regulatory authority following a request under paragraph (b), sign a declaration that the work has complied with all of the requirements under the Act;
- (d) ensure that the persons performing regulated work under a permit have the qualifications that are appropriate for that type of work.
- (2) A field safety representative who makes a declaration about a regulated product or regulated work must disclose to a safety officer any regulated product or regulated work that creates a risk of personal injury or damage to property.
- (3) A field safety representative named on an application for an operating permit or contractor's licence must, in addition to the duties of a field safety representative under subsections (1) and (2), represent the operating permit holder or licensed contractor in code, technical and worker qualification matters that are within the scope of the field safety representative's certificate of qualification.

Part 6 — Safety Officers

Safety officer must hold appropriate certificate of qualification

- 27 An individual must not exercise any of the powers of a safety officer unless
- (a) that individual holds an appropriate certificate of qualification issued by a provincial safety manager, and
- (b) is appointed as a safety officer under section 11 of the Act.

Safety officer certificate of qualification

- 28 (1) An individual may apply under section 2 for a certificate of qualification as a safety officer.
- (2) A certificate of qualification issued under subsection (1) may restrict the areas of British Columbia to which the certificate of qualification applies.
- (3) A provincial safety manager may require an applicant to take an examination for a safety officer's certificate of qualification, and, if so, the examination must
- (a) be set by a provincial safety manager,
- (b) be held at a place and time selected by a provincial safety manager, and

Page 10 of 12 18/12/2014

- (c) be held only after written notification to the applicant of the time and place of the examination.
- (4) A safety officer who holds a safety officer's certificate of qualification under this section, while employed by a regulatory authority, must not perform for anyone other than their employer inspections of regulated work or regulated products in the discipline for which the certificate of qualification is issued.

Temporary safety officer's certificates of qualification

- 29 (1) A provincial safety manager may issue a temporary safety officer's certificate of qualification to any individual if satisfied that the individual has sufficient knowledge and experience for that certificate.
- (2) A temporary safety officer's certificate of qualification issued under subsection (1) may contain limitations on the powers of the person to conduct inspections.

Expiry of safety officer's certificates of qualification

- 30 (1) A certificate of qualification of a safety officer issued under section 28 expires on the earlier of
- (a) the expiry date specified in the certificate, or
- (b) the date the individual ceases to be a safety officer.
- (2) If a safety officer ceases to hold that office and within 2 years is again appointed as a safety officer, the individual's certificate of qualification must be considered to have been maintained.

Part 7 — Documents

Permission not transferable

31 A permission issued under the Act cannot be transferred without the prior approval of the regulatory authority.

Documents issued by mistake

- 32 (1) A person's licence or other permissions may be revoked or suspended by a provincial safety manager if the licence or other permission was issued in error.
- (2) A revocation or suspension under subsection (1) cannot be the subject matter of an appeal to the appeal board.

Issue of duplicate certificate, licence, permit or other document

33 On payment of any required fee and if satisfied that a certificate, licence, permit or other document issued to a person under the Act has been lost, stolen or destroyed, a provincial safety manager or other person who issued the document must issue a duplicate of the document to the person.

Page 11 of 12 18/12/2014

Part 8 — Incident Reporting

Duty to report incidents to the appropriate safety manager

- **34** (1) If any of the following persons attend an incident the person has a duty to report it to the appropriate safety manager:
- (a) a holder of a permit to perform regulated work;
- (b) a person who is authorized to perform or performs regulated work;
- (c) a person who is authorized to operate or operates a regulated product or system;
- (d) an officer or employee of a utility.
- (2) The owner of a plant must report an incident to the appropriate safety manager.

[Provisions of the <u>Safety Standards Act</u>, S.B.C. 2003, c. 39, relevant to the enactment of this regulation: section 88]

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Page 12 of 12 18/12/2014

APPENDIX "C"

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada B.C. Reg. 100/2004 M58/2004 License
Disclaimer
Deposited March 23, 2004
effective April 1, 2004

Safety Standards Act

Electrical Safety Regulation

Note: Check the Cumulative Regulation Bulletin 2014 for any non-consolidated amendments to this regulation that may be in effect.

[includes amendments up to B.C. Reg. 202/2012, October 1, 2012]

Point in Time

Contents

- 1 Definition for the Act
- 2 Definitions
- 3 Application to utilities
- 3.1 Residential electricity consumption
- 3.2 Relation to the Safety Standards General Regulation
- Part 1 General Qualification and Licensing Provisions
 - Division 1 Individuals Who May Perform Regulated Electrical Work
 - 4 Individuals who may perform electrical work
 - 5 Repealed
 - <u>Division 2 Certificates of Qualification for Field Safety Representatives</u>
 - 6 Who may apply for a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative
 - 7 Classes of field safety representative
 - 8 Requirements for classes A, B or C certificates for industry training credential holders
 - 9 Field safety representative certificates for applied technologists
 - 10 Field safety representative certificates for professional engineers
- Part 2 Permits, Inspections and Regulated Products

Division 1 — Permits

- 11 Permits for electrical work
- 12 Supervision ratios under installation permits
- 13 Exemption if electrical work subsumed in permit for elevating device or gas work
- 14 Operating permit
- 15 Operating permit not required

- 16 Duties of a utility representative named on an operating permit
- 17 When a homeowner may perform electrical work under a permit
- 18 When permit is not required for electrical work
- 19 Inspection of electrical work
- <u>Division 2 Regulated Product Standards and Certification</u>
 - 20 Canadian Electrical Code adopted as B.C. Electrical Code
 - 20.1 Certification agencies
 - 21 Certification or approval mark required for electrical equipment

Schedule

Definition for the Act

1 For the purposes of the Act, "electrical equipment" includes apparatus, conduits, plant, pipes, poles, works and any other regulated product that is used, designed or intended for use for or in connection with the generation, transmission, supply, distribution, or use of electrical energy for any purpose.

Definitions

- 2 In this regulation:
- "Act" means the Safety Standards Act;
- "B.C. Electrical Code" means the B.C. Electrical Code adopted under section 20;
- "electrical work" means regulated work in respect of electrical equipment;
- "fully detached dwelling" means any of the following if occupied or intended by the owner to be occupied as a permanent residence:
- (a) any detached building containing only one dwelling unit;
- (b) a manufactured home as defined in the Manufactured Home Act;
- (c) a recreational vehicle;
- "homeowner" means the owner of a fully detached dwelling who lives in or intends to live in that dwelling as a permanent residence;
- "industry training credential" has the meaning in the *Industry Training Authority Act*;
- "licence" means a licence issued by a provincial safety manager in respect of electrical equipment;
- "licensed electrical contractor" means a person who holds a license as a licensed contractor in respect of electrical equipment;

Page 2 of 12 18/12/2014

- "manufacturer's technical representative" means an individual authorized by the manufacturer of a regulated electrical product to provide technical services in respect of that product;
- "regulatory authority" means the ministry or local government which provides for an inspection service and has authority to require inspection of electrical work in an area of British Columbia;
- "rough wiring" means a phase of construction in which an electrical installation is fully accessible for inspection;
- "testing" means the evaluation and verification of electrical equipment by means of instruments and testing devices;
- "utility" means a person who owns or operates equipment or facilities in British Columbia for the generation, transmission or distribution of electricity or communication signals that are for sale.

[am. B.C. Reg. 327/2005, Sch. 1, s. 1.]

Application to utilities

- 3 (1) This regulation, except for section 3.1, does not apply to a public utility as defined in the <u>Utilities Commission Act</u> in the exercise of its function as a utility with respect to the generation, transmission and distribution of electrical energy.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), this regulation applies to the electrical equipment owned or in the possession or control of a public utility if the electrical equipment is not used directly in the generation, transmission and distribution of electrical energy.

[am. B.C. Reg. 198/2006, s. (a).]

Residential electricity consumption

3.1 The range of electricity consumption prescribed for the purposes of the definition of "residential electricity information" in section 19.1 of the Act is 93 kilowatt-hours per day or more, averaged over one billing cycle.

[en. B.C. Reg. 198/2006, s. (b).]

Relation to the Safety Standards General Regulation

3.2 This regulation is subject to the Safety Standards General Regulation.

[en. B.C. Reg. 134/2009, s. 2.]

Part 1 — General Qualification and Licensing Provisions

Division 1 — Individuals Who May Perform Regulated Electrical Work

Individuals who may perform electrical work

- 4 (1) Subject to subsection (2), an individual must not perform regulated work in respect of electrical equipment unless the individual
- (a) holds an appropriate industry training credential in respect of electrical work,
- (b) has successfully completed training recognized by a provincial safety manager,
- (c) is employed by an organization that utilizes training programs that are approved by a provincial safety manager and the individual
- (i) has successfully completed the relevant training, and
- (ii) does not perform regulated work for any person other than the individual's employer who provided the training,
- (d) is a homeowner acting in accordance with section 17,
- (e) is a manufacturer's technical representative,
- (f) holds another certificate of qualification under the Gas Safety Regulation or the Power Engineers, Boiler, Pressure Vessel and Refrigeration Safety Regulation, or
- (g) is permitted to do so under section 5 of the Safety Standards General Regulation.
- (2) Any right referred to in subsection (1) to perform electrical work is limited by
- (a) any exception under this regulation,
- (b) any terms and conditions imposed under a permission issued under the Act, or
- (c) by the scope of the individual's certificate of qualification or industry training credential.
- (3) For the purposes of section 5 of the Safety Standards General Regulation or section 12 of this regulation, only an individual referred to in subsection (1) (a), (b), (c) or (f) of this section is authorized to supervise a person to do electrical work.

Repealed

5 Repealed. [B.C. Reg. 327/2005, Sch. 1, s. 2.]

Division 2 — Certificates of Qualification for Field Safety Representatives

Who may apply for a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative

- 6 Only the following individuals are eligible to apply for a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative:
- (a) an individual referred to in section 4 (1) (a) to (c);
- (b) an applied technologist referred to in section 9 (1);

Page 4 of 12 18/12/2014

(c) a professional engineer referred to in section 10 (1).

Classes of field safety representative

- 7 (1) Class A, class B and class C certificates of qualification as a field safety representative are established.
- (2) The classes of certificate established under subsection (1) are in addition to other certificates of qualification for electrical work issued by a provincial safety manager.
- (3) The holder of a class A certificate of qualification may make declarations for any type of electrical work.
- (4) The holder of a class B, certificate of qualification may make declarations only with respect to electrical installations in which the voltage of the completed installation does not exceed 750 volts.
- (5) The holder of a class C, certificate of qualification may make declarations only with respect to electrical installations in which the current and voltage in the installation do not exceed current of 200 amps and voltage of 150 volts to ground, single phase power.

Requirements for classes A, B or C certificates for industry training credential holders

- 8 (1) In order to obtain a certificate of qualification for Class A, B or C as a field safety representative under section 7, an individual must
- (a) hold an appropriate industry training credential,
- (b) complete a course in the application of electrical codes and standards required by the provincial safety manager, and
- (c) pass an examination required by the provincial safety manager.
- (2) In order to obtain a class A certificate of qualification as a field safety representative under this section, an individual must also complete three high voltage installations.
- (3) An individual who qualifies for a class A certificate of qualification as a field safety representative may obtain a certificate of class B or C but may hold only one of those certificates at any time.

Field safety representative certificates for applied technologists

- 9 (1) An individual may apply to a provincial safety manager for a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative in one of the classes of certificates referred to in section 7 if the individual
- (a) holds qualifications in electrical engineering technology,
- (b) is registered as an applied science technologist under the <u>Applied Science Technologists and Technicians Act</u>,
- (c) completes a course in the application of electrical codes and standards required by a provincial safety manager, and

Page 5 of 12 18/12/2014

- (d) passes an examination required by the provincial safety manager.
- (2) An applied technologist who applies for a class A or class B certificate of qualification as a field safety representative must have
- (a) 2 years of work experience, acceptable to a provincial safety manager, after receiving a class C certificate of qualification as a field safety representative, or
- (b) 3 years of work experience, acceptable to a provincial safety manager, with electrical installations in which the voltage of installation is more than 150 volts to ground.
- (3) An applied technologist who applies for a class C certificate of qualification as a field safety representative must have one year of work experience acceptable to a provincial safety manager.

[en. B.C. Reg. 475/2004, Sch. 1.]

Field safety representative certificates for professional engineers

- 10 (1) An individual who holds qualifications in electrical engineering and is a member in good standing with the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia may apply to a provincial safety manager to obtain a certificate of qualification as a field safety representative in one of the classes of certificate of qualifications as a field safety representative referred to in section 7 if the individual passes an examination required by the provincial safety manager.
- (2) A professional engineer who applies for a class A or class B certificate of qualification as a field safety representative must have two years of work experience acceptable to a provincial safety manager.

Part 2 — Permits, Inspections and Regulated Products

Division 1 — Permits

Permits for electrical work

- 11 (1) When electrical work is performed on electrical equipment, a permit is required
- (a) for each structure with a separate electrical supply, or
- (b) for each portion of a structure with a separate electrical supply service.
- (2) A permit is required for any electrical work that requires the attendance of a utility to connect or reconnect an electrical service.

Supervision ratios under installation permits

12 (1) In this section:

"main consumer service" has the same meaning as in the Canadian Electrical Code;

Page 6 of 12 18/12/2014

- "trainee" means a trainee under the Industry Training Authority Act.
- (2) For the purposes of doing regulated work under an installation permit for electrical equipment in which the field safety representative named in the permit is a person who holds a certificate of qualification of class A, B or C, a person authorized to supervise under section 4 (3) may supervise
- (a) up to 4 individuals for installations derived from a 3 wire 120/240 volt grounded neutral system, if the rating of the main consumer service equipment does not exceed 200 amps, or
- (b) in any other case, 1 or 2 trainees.
- (3) For the purposes of doing regulated work under an installation permit for electrical equipment in which a field safety representative of any class other than class A, B or C is named on the installation permit, the field safety representative may supervise only one or two individuals.

[am. B.C. Reg. 327/2005, Sch. 1, s. 3.]

Exemption if electrical work subsumed in permit for elevating device or gas work

13 If a person holds a permit under the Elevating Devices Safety Regulation or the Gas Safety Regulation to do work on an elevating device or gas system that includes electrical work, no additional permit under this regulation is required to do the electrical work.

Operating permit

14 If electrical maintenance is performed on a building or premises, the application for the operating permit must include the name, class and certificate of qualification number of the field safety representative who will perform or supervise the regulated work under the permit.

Operating permit not required

15 An operating permit under this regulation is not required for a utility that is regulated under an enactment of Canada.

Duties of a utility representative named on an operating permit

- 16 (1) In this section, "utility representative" means individual specified in an application for an operating permit for a utility as the applicant's utility representative.
- (2) A utility representative must provide the name, class and certificate of qualification number of at least one field safety representative who will perform or supervise all electrical work under the permit.

When a homeowner may perform electrical work under a permit

17 (1) Subject to this section, a homeowner may perform electrical work in their fully detached dwelling under an installation permit.

Page 7 of 12 18/12/2014

- (2) An installation permit may be issued to a homeowner only if
- (a) electricity is not fed or supplied from the fully detached dwelling to a separately owned or occupied property, and
- (b) the electrical work involves only installations in which the current and voltage do not exceed current of 200 amps and voltage of 150 volts to ground, single phase power.
- (3) An installation permit issued under subsection (2) does not authorize the issue of a permit to install the connection from a manufactured home or recreational vehicle to the power supply of a manufactured home park or recreational vehicle park.
- (4) A homeowner who performs electrical work under an installation permit must request that the work be inspected by a safety officer
- (a) if the work or a phase of the work is completed, promptly on that completion, or
- (b) if no other inspection has been made within 180 days from the start of the permit, immediately before the expiry of the 180 day period.
- (5) If an inspection is required after a request under subsection (4), the inspection must be made after completion of the electrical work and before
- (a) the concealment of any portion of the rough wiring, and
- (b) the connection of power to the electrical supply system.
- (6) A homeowner may perform the electrical work in the homeowner's fully detached dwelling under an installation permit issued to a licensed electrical contractor for that work if
- (a) the contractor who holds the permit supervises the work, and
- (b) the homeowner only performs work referred to in subsection (2).

When permit is not required for electrical work

- 18 (1) No permit is required if the only electrical work performed is testing.
- (2) An individual may replace the following regulated products without a permit, up to a maximum rating of 150 V to ground, with electrical equipment of a similar type or rating:
- (a) receptacles;
- (b) cord attachment plugs;
- (c) snap switches;
- (d) ballasts;
- (e) dimmer switches;

Page 8 of 12

- (f) fan speed controllers;
- (g) thermostats;
- (h) overcurrent devices.
- (3) An individual may replace, without a permit, a lamp of up to 347 V to ground with a lamp of a similar type or rating.
- (4) An individual may replace, without a permit, a fuse of up to 750 V with a fuse of a similar type or rating.
- (5) If a licensed electrical contractor or a manufacturer's technical representative performs repairs involving the components of existing installed and certified regulated electrical equipment, no permit is required if
- (a) there are no modifications or additions to the electrical installation,
- (b) neither the electrical rating nor the characteristics of the equipment is altered, and
- (c) the replacement components are of a type which do not invalidate the original certification mark.

[am. B.C. Reg. 327/2005, Sch. 1, s. 4.]

Inspection of electrical work

- 19 (1) If a person holds an electrical installation permit, the field safety representative named on the permit must request an inspection at least once in every 180 day period.
- (2) If no inspection request under subsection (1) has been submitted within a 180 day period, the holder of the permit must have the permit amended to allow for the extra time before performing any regulated work.
- (3) On the completion of each phase of electrical work under an installation permit, the field safety representative named on the permit must request an inspection.
- (4) A person must not do any of the following unless the regulated work has been inspected or the inspection has been waived:
- (a) conceal any portion of the rough wiring;
- (b) connect power to the electrical supply system;
- (c) if the inspection is required for other than the last phase, work on the next phase of the electrical work.
- (5) If an inspection is required for regulated work, other than the regulated work in the last phase, a person must not do regulated work on the next phase of electrical work.
- (6) After receiving a request under subsection (1) or (3), the regulatory authority may require

Page 9 of 12

- (a) an inspection, or
- (b) a declaration that the work performed under the permit complies with the Act and the regulations.

Division 2 — Regulated Product Standards and Certification

Canadian Electrical Code adopted as B.C. Electrical Code

20 The Canadian Electrical Code, Part I, Twenty-second Edition, Safety Standard for Electrical Installations, Canadian Standards Association Standard C22.1-12 is adopted in whole, including any errata and as if it were amended as set out in the Schedule to this regulation, as the B.C. Electrical Code Regulation 2012.

[am. B.C. Regs. 17/2007, Sch. 1, s. 1; 186/2009, s. (a); 202/2012, s. 1.]

Certification agencies

20.1 An organization accredited by the Standards Council of Canada under the *Standards Council of Canada Act* as an organization engaged in conformity assessment is a certification agency for the purposes of this regulation.

[en. B.C. Reg. 327/2005, Sch. 1, s. 5.]

Certification or approval mark required for electrical equipment

- 21 (1) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), a person must not use electrical equipment in British Columbia, or offer for sale, sell, display or otherwise dispose of electrical equipment for use in British Columbia, unless the electrical equipment displays a label or mark as follows:
- (a) a certification mark;
- (b) a label or mark of a certification agency that is acceptable to the appropriate provincial safety manager to certify electrical equipment for a specific installation;
- (c) an approval mark issued under section 10 of the Act;
- (d) in the case of used manufactured homes, used factory-built structures and used recreational vehicles, a label supplied by the appropriate provincial safety manager.
- (2) An approval mark under subsection (1) (c) signifies compliance with requirements in respect of fire and electrical shock hazards only.
- (3) Electrical equipment that does not require approval under the B.C. Electrical Code does not require a label or mark.
- (4) Electrical equipment that has not been approved under subsection (1) may
- (a) be displayed for not more than 14 days if the regulatory authority gives written permission to do so, or

Page 10 of 12 18/12/2014

(b) be used by a utility in its capacity as a utility if a professional engineer has certified that the use of the equipment is safe.

[am. B.C. Reg. 327/2005, Sch. 1, s. 6.]

Schedule

[en. B.C. Reg. 202/2012, s. 2.]

Deemed Amendments for Purposes of Adopting

Canadian Electrical Code

- 1 For the purposes of section 20 of this regulation, the Canadian Electrical Code, Part 1, Twenty-second Edition, Canadian Standards Association Standard C22.1-12, is adopted as if it were amended as follows:
- (a) in section 0 by deleting the definition of "Electrical contractor" and substituting the following:
- "Electrical contractor" means a licensed electrical contractor, as defined in the Electrical Safety Regulation;
- "National Building Code of Canada" means the British Columbia Building Code and local building bylaws;,
- (b) in section 4 by amending rule 4-004 (10) by striking out "Subrules 1(b) and 2(b)" and substituting "Subrules 1(a) and 2(a)",
- (c) in section 76 by amending rule 76-016 by adding "except by special permission" after "Class A Type",
- (d) in Table 2
- (i) in column 1 by striking out the eighth item, "2", and substituting "2 $\S\S$ " and by striking out the eleventh item, "00", and substituting "00 $\S\S$ ", and
- (ii) in the notes immediately below the table by adding the following:
- §§For 3-wire 120/240 V and 120/208 V service conductors for single dwellings, or for feeder conductors supplying single dwelling units of row housing of apartment and similar buildings, and sized in accordance with Rules 8-200(1), 8-200(2), and 8-202(1), the allowable ampacity for sizes No. 2 AWG and No. 2/0 AWG with 90 °C insulation terminating on equipment having a maximum conductor termination temperature of 75 °C shall be 125 A and 200 A, respectively (see Rule 4-006). In this case, the 5% adjustment of Rule 8-106(1) cannot be applied. , and
- (e) in Table 4
- (i) in column 1 by striking out the fourth item, "6", and substituting "6 \ddagger ‡", by striking out the seventh item, "2", and substituting "2 \ddagger ‡", by striking out the ninth item, "0", and substituting "0 \ddagger ‡", by striking out the tenth item, "00", and substituting "00 \ddagger ‡", by striking out the twelfth

item, "0000", and substituting "0000\tau\tau" and by striking out the nineteenth item, "700", and substituting "700\tau\tau\tau", and

(ii) in the notes immediately below the table by adding the following:

‡‡For 3-wire 120/240 V and 120/208 V service conductors for single dwellings, or for feeder conductors supplying single dwelling units of row housing of apartment and similar buildings, and sized in accordance with Rules 8-200(1), 8-200(2), and 8-202(1), the allowable ampacity for sizes No. 6 AWG, No. 2 AWG, No. 1/0 AWG, No. 2/0 AWG, No. 4/0 AWG and No. 700 kcmil with 90 °C insulation terminating on equipment having a maximum conductor termination temperature of 75 °C shall be 60 A, 100 A, 125 A, 150 A, 200 A and 400 A, respectively (see Rule 4-006). In this case, the 5% adjustment of Rule 8-106(1) cannot be applied.

[Provisions relevant to the enactment of this regulation: <u>Safety Standards Act</u>, S.B.C. 2003, c. 39, section 88]

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada

Page 12 of 12 18/12/2014

APPENDIX "D"



DIRECTIVE

No: D-E3 070801 7

THIS DIRECTIVE SUPERCEDES DIRECTIVES: D-E3 040806 3, D-E3 040806 4, D-E3 040806 5, D-E3 040806 6

ELECTRICAL OPERATING PERMIT REQUIREMENTS

This Directive is being issued by a provincial safety manager pursuant to section 30 of the Safety Standards Act. Stakeholders should consult with local authorities having jurisdiction prior to undertaking work, to determine local requirements.

Date of Issue: 1st August, 2007

Scope

This Directive clarifies provisions of Sections 17 & 18 of the Safety Standards General Regulation and Section 14 of the Electrical Safety Regulation with regard to Operating Permit Requirements for the operation or maintenance of regulated electrical equipment.

Operating Permit Requirements

A. Operation:

Section 18(1)(b) of the Safety Standards General Regulation specifies that an operating permit is required to operate a regulated product. An operating permit shall be obtained if:

- 1) the supply is > 250 kVA;
- the supply is > 750 V when privately owned, (high voltage for neon signs is exempt from this requirement);
- 3) the installation is for a temporary entertainment site where an installation permit has not been obtained; or
- 4) required by an Electrical Safety Officer.

B. Maintenance

The British Columbia Electrical Code establishes the requirements for the maintenance of electrical equipment. The basic requirement of Rule 2-300(1) provides that all electrical equipment must be kept in safe and proper operating condition. In order to meet this requirement it is necessary that regular maintenance of operating electrical equipment be undertaken.

For the purpose of this Directive, the term "maintenance" may also include;

- replacement of existing equipment with equipment intended to perform the same function, and
- 2) installation, relocation and alteration of electrical equipment, subject to the restrictions set out in paragraph C below.



C. Minor installations under Operating Permits

Installations may be performed under an operating permit provided that;

- 1) additional loads, or additional distribution capacity, is only added to **existing** plant structures, systems, and assemblies;
- 2) the existing main service is rated at 250 kVA or less and the additional load or capacity, per installation, does not exceed 12.5 kVA;
- 3) the main service is rated over 250 kVA and the additional load, per installation, does not exceed 36 kVA and; and
- 4) the work does not result in a change in the main service capacity.

All other installations require an installation permit.

D. Obtaining an Electrical Operating Permit

Electrical operating permits may be obtained by either the owner of the electrical equipment or the owner of the building where the electrical equipment is being maintained. When applying for an electrical operating permit the owner must, in accordance with Section 14 of the Electrical Safety Regulation specify:

- 1) the name of the Field Safety Representative (FSR) who will be responsible for the maintenance:
- 2) the class and certificate of qualification number of the FSR; and
- renewals must include a declaration of compliance which has been signed by the FSR.

Note: When the owner specifies an employee as the FSR, that employee may be named on multiple operating permits for the same owner but may not represent more than one owner on operating permits. When a licensed electrical contractor has been engaged by the owner to be responsible for the operating permit, the designated FSR may be named on multiple operating permits for multiple owners, provided that it is reasonable for that FSR to be responsible for all the work involved.

As defined in Section 1 of the Safety Standards Act, "owner" includes a lessee.

Stephen Hinde

Provincial Electrical Safety Manager British Columbia Safety Authority



Relevant Legislation

Safety Standards General Regulation

Installation permits

- 17 (1) An installation permit is required to install or alter a regulated product.
 - (2) An installation permit may be issued to any of the following:
 - (a) a licensed contractor;
 - (b) a person who holds an operating permit;
 - (c) an owner of a regulated product;
 - (d) a homeowner who performs regulated work as permitted under the regulations.
 - (3) Unless exempted by the regulations, an application for an installation permit must contain the name, certificate of qualification number and class of certificate of qualification of the field safety representative.
 - (4) To issue an installation permit a safety officer may require a bond.

Operating permits

- 18 (1) A person must have an operating permit to do any of the following:
 - (a) operate a regulated product;
 - (b) maintain a regulated product.
- (2) An operating permit may be issued to any of the following:
 - (a) an owner of a regulated product;
 - (b) the owner of a building or other premises where regulated work is to be performed.



Responsibilities of operating permit holder

- 19 The holder of an operating permit must do all of the following:
 - (a) if required under the permit, maintain a log of work performed under the permit;
 - (b) in the case of a multi-year operating permit, pay any required installments of the permit fee;
 - (c) submit any required declaration confirming compliance with the Act;
 - (d) if a field safety representative is named in the permit, immediately notify the regulatory authority if the field safety representative ceases to be contracted or employed by the permit holder.

Electrical Safety Regulation

Operating permit

14 If electrical maintenance is performed on a building or premises, the application for the operating permit must include the name, class and certificate of qualification number of the field safety representative who will perform or supervise the regulated work under the permit.

For more information, contact your local Safety Officer or visit our website at:

www.safetyauthority.ca

FEDERAL COURT

BETWEEN:

NEIL ALLARD TANYA BEEMISH DAVID HEBERT SHAWN DAVEY

PLAINTIEES

AND:

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA

DEFENDANTS

CERTIFICATE CONCERNING CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EXPERT WITNESSES

I, Robert Boileau, having been named as an expert witness by the Plaintiffs, certify that I have read the Code of Conduct for Expert Witnesses set out in the schedule to the Federal Courts Rules before the commissioning of my Affidavit and agree to be bound by it.

Dated: December 19 , 2014

Robert Boileau Expert Witness 10760 277th Street

Maple Ridge BC V2W 1M7

commissioner for taking affidavits for British Columbia